Subsystem Non-Invertible Symmetry Operators and Defects

Weiguang Cao^{1,2}, Linhao Li^{2,3}, Masahito Yamazaki^{1,4}, and Yunqin Zheng^{1,3}

- ¹ Kavli Institute for the Physics and Mathematics of the Universe, University of Tokyo, Kashiwa, Chiba 277-8583, Japan
- ² Department of Physics, Graduate School of Science, University of Tokyo, Tokyo 113-0033, Japan
- ³ Institute for Solid State Physics, University of Tokyo, Kashiwa, Chiba 277-8581, Japan
- ⁴ Trans-Scale Quantum Science Institute, University of Tokyo, Tokyo 113-0033, Japan

We explore non-invertible symmetries in two-dimensional lattice models with subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry. We introduce a subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 -gauging procedure, called the subsystem Kramers-Wannier transformation, which generalizes the ordinary Kramers-Wannier transformation. The corresponding duality operators and defects are constructed by gaugings on the whole or half of the Hilbert space. By gauging twice, we derive fusion rules of duality operators and defects, which enriches ordinary Ising fusion rules with subsystem features. Subsystem Kramers-Wannier duality defects are mobile in both spatial directions, unlike the defects of invertible subsystem symmetries. We finally comment on the anomaly of the subsystem Kramers-Wannier duality symmetry, and discuss its subtleties.

Contents

1	Introduction			
	1.1	Subsystem non-invertible symmetry	1	
	1.2	Symmetry operators and defects	3	
	1.3	Anomalies of subsystem (non)invertible symmetry	4	
	1.4	Structure of the paper	4	
2	mers-Wannier duality operators and defects in $(1+1)$ d spin chains	5		
	2.1	Ordinary \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry and twist operators	5	
	2.2	KW duality operators	6	
	2.3	KW duality defects	9	
	2.4	KW duality symmetry	12	
	2.5	Anomaly of KW duality symmetry	14	
3	Subsystem Kramers-Wannier duality operators and defects in $(2+1)$ d spin system			
	3.1	Subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry and twist operators	15	
	3.2	Subsystem KW duality operators	17	
	3.3	Subsystem KW duality defects	22	
	3.4	Subsystem KW duality symmetry	25	
	3.5	Anomaly of subsystem KW duality symmetry	26	
4	4 Discussion and future directions			
A	A Gauging subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry			

1 Introduction

1.1 Subsystem non-invertible symmetry

Symmetry is one of the most important notions in physics. In recent years, the concept of global symmetry has been generalized in various directions [1]. See also the snowmass white paper [2] for a recent overview and more references. The three most notable properties of symmetry operators/defects are their

- 1. codimensions,
- 2. invertibility,
- 3. topologicalness/mobility.

We can organize generalized symmetries according to these properties (Tab. 1). An ordinary global symmetry corresponds to codimension-one topological operators with group-like and invertible fusion rules. The remaining symmetries differ in one or multiple properties. For instance,

Symmetry	codimension	invertibility	topologicalness
ordinary symmetry	= 1	1	1
higher-form/group sym [1, 3–45]	≥ 1	1	✓
non-invertible/categorical sym [50-74]	= 1	×	1
higher categorical sym [101–140]	≥ 1	×	1
subsystem sym [75–91]	= 1	1	×
higher subsystem sym [141–152]	≥ 1	1	×
subsystem non-invertible sym	= 1	×	×
higher subsystem non-invertible sym	≥ 1	×	×

Table 1: Organization of global symmetries in terms of operator/defect's codimension, invertibility and topologicalness. The goal of this paper is to explore subsystem non-invertible symmetry, highlighted in bold font.

higher-form symmetries relax the condition of codimension being one [1, 3-45];¹ non-invertible symmetries in (1+1)d relax the invertibility [50–74]; subsystem symmetries in (2+1)d relax the topologicalness or the mobility of the symmetry generators/defects² [75–91].³ Here and in Tab. 1 we only present a highly incomplete list of references.⁴

One gets further generalized symmetries by modifying more than one property simultaneously. For instance, by allowing the defect to have codimension higher than one and also be noninvertible, we get higher categorical symmetries [101–140]; by gauging the 0-form subsystem symmetries in (3 + 1)d, we get a fracton order with one-form subsystem symmetries [141–152].

The goal of this paper is to study yet another type of generalized symmetry by lifting both the invertibility as well as the topologicalness: the corresponding symmetry is a *subsystem non-invertible symmetry*. We will not study a generic subsystem symmetry, and instead focus on one

³There are also earlier works on subsystem symmetry from algebraic duality approach [92–96].

⁴Another line of development of unconventional symmetry, motivated by commutant algebra in the study of quantum many body scar, was explored in [97–100]. It would be interesting to see how such unconventional symmetry fits in various entries of Tab. 1.

¹Before [1], various earlier works had already hinted the existence of higher form symmetries and the dynamical consequences thereof [46–49].

²Let us clarify the definition of the codimension of an operator/defect when it is not fully mobile. The (2 + 1)d subsystem-symmetry defects are line operators, thus one would naively conclude that it is of codimension two in spacetime, and is higher-form as well. Here it is more natural to define the codimension with respect to the subspace where the operator/defect is mobile rather than the entire spacetime. For instance, consider the subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry where the defect is along the x direction. It is only mobile along the t direction, while is not mobile along the y direction. So the mobile subspace is the t - x plane, and the defect with respect to the t - x plane is of codimension one.

typical example— the *subsystem Kramers-Wannier (KW) duality symmetry* associated with the gauging of a subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry in (2 + 1)d. Here, the subsystem KW duality symmetry has *co-dimension 1* non-invertible symmetry operator and defect, which is different from the co-dimension 2 invertible subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry operators and defects. Furthermore, the non-invertible fusion rule will mix operators (defects) of different co-dimensions.

Our construction naturally generalizes the well-known KW duality symmetry in (1 + 1)d, which gauges an ordinary \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry. To the authors' knowledge, this is the first study of a symmetry where both the invertibility and topologicalness are lifted.

1.2 Symmetry operators and defects

For a given symmetry we can consider symmetry operators (along the spatial direction) and symmetry defects (one of whose directions is along the time)⁵. When the symmetry is topological, the two can be deformed to each other and hence are equivalent. This naturally happens in relativistic systems, where Lorentz symmetry ensures that time and space are on equal footing.

However, when the topologicalness is sacrificed as in the case of the subsystem symmetry, it is important to treat the symmetry operator and symmetry defect separately. The latter was highlighted recently [87,91] as a generator of the time-like symmetry.

In the literature, most of the discussions of non-invertible symmetries are either in continuum field theories or in the statistical models with infinite system sizes [52]. The authors of [154] systematically discussed the properties of the KW-duality operator acting on a finite-size Hilbert space of a quantum system, and carefully discussed the effects of boundary conditions for closed spin chains. However, it is also important to study symmetry defects to fully uncover the properties of symmetry. In particular, it is important to turn on both symmetry operators and defects when determining the anomaly of the symmetry. Anomaly usually manifests itself as a "fractional" symmetry charge of the ground state in the presence of symmetry defects (i.e. twisted boundary conditions) [155, 156].

In this work, we will study both symmetry operators and defects on the lattice. Our discussion of the symmetry operators directly generalizes our previous work on (1+1)d KW duality operators [154]. The discussion of symmetry defects is relatively new, and is consistent with earlier results for the (1 + 1)d KW duality defect in the Ising model on the lattice [157].

One peculiar feature we encounter is the mobility of the subsystem KW duality defect. Because of the subsystem nature, one might naively expect that the subsystem KW duality defect along, say, the $t - x^6$ direction is not mobile along the y direction. However, we find that the

⁵We mainly use the terminology "operators" for maps from one Hilbert space (defined on sites) to another Hilbert space (defined on links or plaquettes) and "defects" for interfaces between two theories. One can further redefine the link/plaquette Hilbert spaces to be supported on sites, which we briefly discuss in Sec. 2.4 and 3.4. This redefinition makes the operators to act within on one Hilbert space, and the defects between a single theory. This is consistent with the recent discussion [153].

⁶We use t for both time and twist boundary condition in the main text which should not be confused. In some places, we also use τ for time, such as in the index of gauge fields and gauge invariant holonomy variables.

subsystem KW duality defect is mobile under translation in the entire x - y plane. Namely, two KW duality defects defined on $t - \ell_1(x, y)$ and $t - \ell_2(x, y)$, where $\ell_i(x, y)$ specifies a pair of mutually deformable curves within the x - y plane, can be deformed to each other.⁷

1.3 Anomalies of subsystem (non)invertible symmetry

As with other types of symmetries, the subsystem (non)invertible symmetry may also suffer from anomalies. What does the anomaly of subsystem symmetry mean? We list several criteria, not all of which are equivalent:

- 1. Incompatible with a gapped phase with one ground state including trivially gapped phase and subsystem symmetry protected topological (SSPT) phases [158–160].
- 2. Incompatible with a gapped phase constructed from stacking lower dimensional (subsystem) topological quantum field theories (TQFTs).
- 3. There is a non-trivial anomaly inflow from higher dimensions [161].

In particular, point 2 is more general than point 1, because the concept of G subsystem symmetric Renormalization Group flow is believed to admit stacking layers of lower-dimensional G symmetric TQFTs [162, 163]. Thus it is natural to define the "trivial" phase by modding out the lower dimensional symmetric gapped phases, including those whose ground state degeneracy is higher than one. However, point 2 and point 1 are degenerate in the current case where we only consider a \mathbb{Z}_2 subsystem symmetry in (2 + 1)d. This is because a non-trivial \mathbb{Z}_2 -symmetric TQFT in (1 + 1)d must spontaneously break the \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry. Thus in the following, we will adopt point 1 as a criterion for the subsystem KW duality symmetry to be anomalous.

The anomaly of the KW duality symmetry in (1+1)d has been discussed in [55,56,59,106]. In this paper, we follow the approach in [106] and discuss the anomaly of the subsystem KW duality symmetry in (2 + 1)d. The idea is to check whether an SSPT phase is invariant under a gauging of the subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry; if not, we conclude that the subsystem KW duality symmetry is anomalous.

1.4 Structure of the paper

The paper is organized as follows. In Sec. 2, we review the construction of ordinary KW duality operators and defects in (1 + 1)d spin chains via gauging ordinary \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetries. We present a comprehensive analysis of the ordinary KW duality symmetry, including the derivation of non-invertible fusion rules, the demonstration of the mobility of duality defects, and the proof of the anomalous nature of the KW duality symmetry. In Sec. 3, we extend this formulation to (2 + 1)d lattice models, which incorporate subsystem KW duality operators and defects. We conduct a similar investigation of the non-invertible fusion rules, the mobility of duality defects, and the

⁷Note that one defect is deformable to another defect, but not to the symmetry operator.

anomaly of subsystem KW duality symmetry. Finally, in Sec. 4, we summarize our findings and suggest potential future directions for this work.

2 Kramers-Wannier duality operators and defects in (1 + 1)d spin chains

In this section we briefly review the non-invertible duality symmetry given by the KW transformation with respect to a non-anomalous \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry in (1 + 1)d spin chains. The discussion here serves as a preparation for the subsystem generalization of the non-invertible symmetry in (2 + 1)d, to be discussed in Sec. 3. Most of the materials in this section are scattered in the literature and are not new. The goal is to gather them in one place, and also present them in a way that directly generalizes to the subsystem symmetry case.

2.1 Ordinary \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry and twist operators

Consider a \mathbb{Z}_2 -symmetric theory on either a closed chain with L sites or an infinite chain. On each site i there is a spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ variable $s_i \in \{0, 1\}$. The \mathbb{Z}_2 operator is associated with a topological operator with the \mathbb{Z}_2 fusion rule. One can either place such a topological operator along the space or along the time direction. In the former case, the topological operator is a symmetry generator acting on the entire Hilbert space,

$$U := \prod_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \sigma_i^x, \qquad (2.1)$$

which flips the spin on each site, i.e. $s_i \to 1 - s_i$. The eigenvalue of U is $(-1)^u$ with u = 0, 1. The \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry generator satisfies two obvious properties:

- 1. \mathbb{Z}_2 fusion rule: $U \times U = 1$.
- 2. Topological along the time direction, since it commutes with the Hamiltonian.

In the latter case, the topological operator is a symmetry defect that modifies the Hilbert space. For a quantum field theory in the continuum with Lorentz symmetry, the space and time are on equal footing, and a \mathbb{Z}_2 operator and a \mathbb{Z}_2 defect are used interchangeably. However, it is useful to distinguish the two, since our discussion is on the lattice, and since we would like to generalize the discussion here to subsystem symmetries.

Let us give further details when \mathbb{Z}_2 operators are along the time direction, i.e. the \mathbb{Z}_2 defects. It is useful to first discuss \mathbb{Z}_2 defects on an infinite chain, and then on a closed chain. Suppose the defect is localized at the origin. In the Hamiltonian formalism, such a defect can be created by acting the original Hilbert space by a *twist operator*, i.e. the \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry generator terminated at the origin. See Fig. 1 for a schematic explanation. Concretely, the twist operator is⁸

$$U_0^t := \prod_{i \le 0} \sigma_i^x \,. \tag{2.2}$$

It creates a \mathbb{Z}_2 defect between site i = 0 and i = 1. Conjugating U_0^t on a \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetric Hamiltonian creates a new Hamiltonian $H_{tw,0} := (U_0^t)^{\dagger} H U_0^t$. For example, start with the \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetric Ising model without transverse field, $H = -\sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \sigma_i^z \sigma_{i+1}^z$, then $H_{tw,0} = -\sum_{i \neq 0} \sigma_i^z \sigma_{i+1}^z + \sigma_0^z \sigma_1^z$, and the ground state of the latter supports a \mathbb{Z}_2 domain wall. Like the \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry generator, the \mathbb{Z}_2 defect also satisfies the same two properties:

- 1. \mathbb{Z}_2 fusion rule. The fusion of \mathbb{Z}_2 defects follows from the fusion of two twist operators, $U_0^t \times U_0^t = 1.$
- 2. Topological along the space direction. Given two defects at i = 0 and i = 1, generated by U_0^t and U_1^t respectively. They give rise to the twisted Hamiltonians $H_{tw,0}$ and $H_{tw,1}$. Topologicalness of the \mathbb{Z}_2 defects means the two Hamiltonians are unitary equivalent, i.e. there is a local unitary transformation W such that $H_{tw,1} = W^{\dagger}H_{tw,0}W$, where W only acts on the Hilbert space around the origin. This follows if one can find W such that

$$U_1^t = U_0^t W \,. (2.3)$$

Indeed, $W = \sigma_1^x$.

We also comment on the \mathbb{Z}_2 defect on a closed chain. As explained in Fig. 1, to create a symmetry defect on a ring, we first uplift the circle to an open spin chain with periodic boundary condition $|s_{i+L}\rangle = |s_i\rangle$, and act with the twist operator on the intervals $\bigcup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} (2kL, (2k+1)L]$. This changes the periodic boundary condition to the twisted boundary condition $|s_{i+L}\rangle = |s_i + 1\rangle$. Hence on a closed chain, we can use t = 0, 1 to label the periodic boundary condition and twisted boundary condition, corresponding to the absence or presence of the \mathbb{Z}_2 defect, i.e. $|s_{i+L}\rangle = |s_i + t\rangle$.

2.2 KW duality operators

From now on, we assume that the (1+1)d system is invariant under the gauging of the \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry. This means that the \mathbb{Z}_2 gauging is a symmetry of the system. Since any symmetry is equipped with a topological operator, as we discussed for the \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry in Sec. 2.1, we can put the operator either along the space (i.e. KW duality operator) or along the time (i.e. KW duality defect). In this subsection, we will discuss the KW duality operator.

The KW duality operator acts on the entire Hilbert space via gauging the \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry. We will assume closed boundary conditions throughout this section since the change of (twisted)

⁸The superscript t either stands for "time" since the defect is along the time direction, or "twist" since it is a twist operator creating the defect. The subscript 0 labels the endpoint of the twist operator or the locus of the defect.



Figure 1: \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry defects (blue) and \mathbb{Z}_2 twist operators (red) on an infinite chain and on a ring. The black line represents the space, and the orthogonal direction represents time. In the first row, acting a twist operator on the left half chain creates a \mathbb{Z}_2 defect along the time direction at the origin. In the second row, in order to use the twist operator to create a symmetry defect, one needs to lift S^1 up to \mathbb{R} and act the twist operator on the intervals $\cup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} [2kL, (2k+1)L]$.

boundary conditions is a key feature under gauging. The KW duality operator was widely known to map Pauli operators as $\sigma_i^x \to \sigma_i^z \sigma_{i+1}^z$ and $\sigma_i^z \to \prod_{j \le i} \sigma_i^x$, which is well defined on an infinitely long chain. Its action on the Hilbert space of an infinitely long chain has also been discussed in [52]. See also [164–166] for the of Matrix-Product-State (MPS) realization. However, on a closed chain, one has to specify how the boundary conditions transform under gauging [167–170]. In this subsection, we mainly follow the discussion in [154], where the fusion rule, exchange of symmetry and twist sectors, and mapping of operators are all discussed on closed chains. We only briefly summarize the results, and refer the interested reader to [154] for further details.

Under KW, the spins $\{s_i\}$ on the original lattice are mapped to dual spins $\{\hat{s}_{i-\frac{1}{2}}\}$ on the link. We use the (\hat{u}, \hat{t}) to label the symmetry-twist sectors of the dual lattice. Here, $(-1)^{\hat{u}}$ is the eigenvalue of the dual symmetry $\hat{U} := \prod_{i=1}^{L} \hat{\sigma}_{i-\frac{1}{2}}^x$, and \hat{t} labels the boundary condition $|\hat{s}_{i-\frac{1}{2}+L}\rangle = |\hat{s}_{i-\frac{1}{2}} + \hat{t}\rangle$.

Definition of KW duality operator: The KW transformation is realized by an operator \mathcal{N} acting on the Hilbert space. It is sufficient to specify how it acts on the basis states [154]

$$\mathcal{N} |\{s_i\}\rangle = \frac{1}{2^{\frac{L}{2}}} \sum_{\{\hat{s}_{i+\frac{1}{2}}\}} (-1)^{\sum_{j=1}^{L} (s_{j-1}+s_j)\hat{s}_{j-\frac{1}{2}}+\hat{t}s_L} |\{\hat{s}_{i+\frac{1}{2}}\}\rangle ,$$

$$\mathcal{N}^{\dagger} |\{\hat{s}_{i+\frac{1}{2}}\}\rangle = \frac{1}{2^{\frac{L}{2}}} \sum_{\{s_i\}} (-1)^{\sum_{j=1}^{L} (\hat{s}_{j-\frac{1}{2}}+\hat{s}_{j+\frac{1}{2}})s_j+t\hat{s}_{\frac{1}{2}}} |\{s_i\}\rangle ,$$
(2.4)

where we use $s_0 = s_L + t$, $\hat{s}_{\frac{1}{2}} = \hat{s}_{L+\frac{1}{2}} + \hat{t}$ to identify the phases $\sum_{j=1}^{L} (s_{j-1} + s_j) \hat{s}_{j-\frac{1}{2}} + \hat{t} s_L = \sum_{j=1}^{L} (\hat{s}_{j-\frac{1}{2}} + \hat{s}_{j+\frac{1}{2}}) s_j + t \hat{s}_{\frac{1}{2}}$. The exponents in (2.4) are reminiscent of the minimal coupling of the gauge fields. The boundary terms in the exponents are chosen to give the correct mapping of symmetry-twist sectors. It is also straightforward to check that the duality operator is Hermitian, $\langle \{s_i\} | \mathcal{N}^{\dagger} | \{\hat{s}_{i+\frac{1}{2}}\} \rangle = \langle \{s_i\} | \mathcal{N} | \{\hat{s}_{i+\frac{1}{2}}\} \rangle$. By definition \mathcal{N} commutes with the Hamiltonian (under suitable relabeling as shown below), hence \mathcal{N} is mobile along the time direction.

Mapping between Pauli operators: KW transformation (2.4) induces the standard transformation of Pauli operators

$$\mathcal{N}\sigma_{i}^{z}\sigma_{i+1}^{z}\left|\psi\right\rangle = \widehat{\sigma}_{i+\frac{1}{2}}^{x}\mathcal{N}\left|\psi\right\rangle, \quad \mathcal{N}\sigma_{i}^{x}\left|\psi\right\rangle = \widehat{\sigma}_{i-\frac{1}{2}}^{z}\widehat{\sigma}_{i+\frac{1}{2}}^{z}\mathcal{N}\left|\psi\right\rangle, \quad \forall\left|\psi\right\rangle \in \mathcal{H}.$$
(2.5)

Non-invertible fusion rules: By acting the product of $\widehat{U} \times \mathcal{N}$, $\mathcal{N} \times U$ and $\mathcal{N}^{\dagger} \times \mathcal{N}$ on a general state $|\psi\rangle$, we find the following fusion rules:

$$\mathcal{N} \times U = (-1)^{\widehat{t}} \mathcal{N}, \quad \widehat{U} \times \mathcal{N} = (-1)^{t} \mathcal{N}, \quad \mathcal{N}^{\dagger} \times \mathcal{N} = 1 + (-1)^{\widehat{t}} U.$$
 (2.6)

See [154, Sec. 2.2] for an explanation of the factors $(-1)^t$ and $(-1)^{\hat{t}}$. In particular, the last fusion rule shows that the KW duality operator \mathcal{N} is non-invertible.

Mapping between symmetry-twist sectors: The symmetry and twist sectors before KW transformation (u, t) and after KW transformation $(\widehat{u}, \widehat{t})$ are related by

$$u = \hat{t}, \quad t = \hat{u}. \tag{2.7}$$

Example: A canonical example with a KW duality symmetry is the Ising model with a critical transverse field.

$$H_{\text{Ising}} = -\sum_{i=1}^{L} \sigma_i^z \sigma_{i+1}^z - \sum_{i=1}^{L} \sigma_i^x \,. \tag{2.8}$$

By using (2.5), one obtains the dual Hamiltonian

$$\widehat{H}_{\text{Ising}} = -\sum_{i=1}^{L} \widehat{\sigma}_{i+\frac{1}{2}}^{x} - \sum_{i=1}^{L} \widehat{\sigma}_{i-\frac{1}{2}}^{z} \widehat{\sigma}_{i+\frac{1}{2}}^{z}.$$
(2.9)

Schematically, after relabeling the spins on the sites and on the links, the two Hamiltonians coincide, $H_{\text{Ising}} = \hat{H}_{\text{Ising}}$, hence the critical Ising model has a KW duality symmetry. We will make this statement more rigorous in Sec. 2.4 by performing the KW transformation on the same lattice.

2.3 KW duality defects

In this subsection, we discuss KW duality defects in Hamiltonian formalism. Although it has been widely discussed in the context of continuum field theories [55,106,107], an explicit realization on a lattice is much less well-known (most of what we present below can be found in [52, 106, 157]). To be self-contained, we will describe in detail the definition of the KW duality defect via the KW duality twist operator, their fusion rule, and their mobility along the space direction.

KW duality defect from KW duality twist operator: Inserting a KW duality defect is equivalent to performing a KW transformation on the half-space. For simplicity, we only consider 1d infinite chains throughout this subsection. Inserting a KW duality defect at the origin amounts to performing a KW transformation on the left half of the lattice, or equivalently applying a KW duality twist operator \mathcal{N}_0^t on the half, as shown in Fig. 2.

The KW duality twist operator terminating at i = 0 is defined as

$$\mathcal{N}_{0}^{t}|\{s_{i}\}\rangle = \frac{1}{2^{\ell/2}} \sum_{\{\widehat{s}_{i-\frac{1}{2}}\}_{i \leq 0}} (-1)^{\sum_{j \leq 0} (s_{j-1}+s_{j})\widehat{s}_{j-\frac{1}{2}}} |\{\widehat{s}_{i-\frac{1}{2}}\}_{i \leq 0}; \{s_{i}\}_{i>0}\rangle , \qquad (2.10)$$

which creates the KW duality defect at $i = \frac{1}{2}$. The resulting Hilbert space is defined on halfinteger links to the left of the origin, and integer sites to the right, as shown in Fig. 2. The overall normalization descends from that in (2.4) where ℓ counts the number of sites covered by \mathcal{N}_0^t .



Figure 2: KW duality defects and twist operators. The left figure is the KW duality defect along the time direction, localized at $i = \frac{1}{2}$. Such a defect can be created, in the Hamiltonian formalism, by acting the original system with a KW duality twist operator \mathcal{N}_0^t , as shown in the right top figure. In resulting Hilbert space is represented in the right bottom figure, where the vertical slashes represent where the spins live, and they occupy half-integer links to the left of the origin and integer sites to the right. The empty circles are sites to the left of the origin where no spins are supported.

While $\ell \to \infty$ since \mathcal{N}_0^t is infinitely long, we formally keep this normalization, which will be useful below. ⁹ It is also straightforward to obtain the action of $(\mathcal{N}_0^t)^{\dagger}$

$$(\mathcal{N}_{0}^{t})^{\dagger} |\{\widehat{s}_{i-\frac{1}{2}}\}_{i \leq 0}; \{s_{i}\}_{i>0}\rangle = \frac{1}{2^{\frac{\ell}{2}}} \sum_{\{s_{i}\}_{i \leq 0}} (-1)^{\sum_{j \leq 0} (s_{j-1}+s_{j})\widehat{s}_{j-\frac{1}{2}}} |\{s_{i}\}\rangle .$$
(2.11)

Fusion rule: We first derive the fusion rule of the KW duality defects. Fusing two KW duality defects on top of each other amounts to multiplying two KW duality twist operators at the same position. Since the Hilbert spaces before and after \mathcal{N}_0^t are different, it is most convenient to compute the fusion $(\mathcal{N}_0^t)^{\dagger} \times \mathcal{N}_0^{t-10}$

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathcal{N}_{0}^{t})^{\dagger} \times \mathcal{N}_{0}^{t} \left| \{s_{i}\} \right\rangle &= \frac{1}{2^{\ell}} \sum_{\{\hat{s}_{i-\frac{1}{2}}\}_{i \leq 0}, \{s'_{i}\}_{i \leq 0}} (-1)^{\sum_{j \leq 0} (s_{j-1}+s_{j})\hat{s}_{j-\frac{1}{2}} + \sum_{j \leq 0} (s'_{j-1}+s'_{j})\hat{s}_{j-\frac{1}{2}}} \left| \{s'_{i}\}_{i \leq 0}; \{s_{i}\}_{i > 0} \right\rangle \\ &= (1+U_{0}^{t}) \left| \{s_{i}\} \right\rangle \,. \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.12)$$

Hence the fusion of the KW duality defect with its Hermitian conjugate is equivalent to the sum of an identity defect and a \mathbb{Z}_2 defect. This is consistent with the fusion rule among two KW duality operators in (2.6). ¹¹

⁹Another way to make sense of the normalization is to place the KW duality twist operator on a finite interval, with both left and right boundaries.

¹⁰To compute the fusion rule $\mathcal{N}_0^t \times \mathcal{N}_0^t$, one needs to identify the Hilbert spaces $|\{\widehat{s}_{i-\frac{1}{2}}\}_{i\leq 0}; \{s_i\}_{i>0}\rangle$ and $|\{s_i\}\rangle$ by shifting the link variables to sites.

¹¹Because we are working on an infinite chain, we do not see the factor $(-1)^{\hat{t}}$ here as opposed to (2.6).

Let us also check the fusion between the \mathbb{Z}_2 defect and the KW duality defect. Fusing the \mathbb{Z}_2 defect from the right gives

$$\mathcal{N}_{0}^{t} \times U_{0}^{t} |\{s_{i}\}\rangle = \frac{1}{2^{\ell/2}} \sum_{\{\widehat{s}_{i-\frac{1}{2}}\}_{i \leq 0}} (-1)^{\sum_{j \leq 0} (s_{j-1}+1+s_{j}+1)\widehat{s}_{j-\frac{1}{2}}} |\{\widehat{s}_{i-\frac{1}{2}}\}_{i \leq 0}; \{s_{i}\}_{i>0}\rangle$$

$$= \mathcal{N}_{0}^{t} |\{s_{i}\}\rangle .$$
(2.13)

This is also consistent with (2.6). Fusing the \mathbb{Z}_2 defect from the left yields

$$\widehat{U}_{-\frac{1}{2}}^{t} \times \mathcal{N}_{0}^{t} |\{s_{i}\}\rangle = \frac{1}{2^{\ell/2}} \sum_{\{\widehat{s}_{i-\frac{1}{2}}\}_{i \leq 0}} (-1)^{\sum_{j \leq 0} (s_{j-1}+s_{j})(\widehat{s}_{j-\frac{1}{2}}+1)} |\{\widehat{s}_{i-\frac{1}{2}}\}_{i \leq 0}; \{s_{i}\}_{i>0}\rangle$$

$$= \mathcal{N}_{0}^{t} \sigma_{0}^{z} |\{s_{i}\}\rangle .$$
(2.14)

We thus naively arrive at $\hat{U}_{-\frac{1}{2}}^t \times \mathcal{N}_0^t = \mathcal{N}_0^t \sigma_0^z$, where a local operator σ_0^z is located at the defect locus. In the Hamiltonian formalism, note that two defects are equivalent to each other if they are related by a local unitary operator, see the discussions around (2.3) as well as [157, Sec. VI.A]. ¹² Hence we identify the twist operator $\mathcal{N}_0^t \sigma_0^z$ with \mathcal{N}_0^t , under which we find the same fusion rule $\hat{U}_{-\frac{1}{2}}^t \times \mathcal{N}_0^t = \mathcal{N}_0^t$ as in (2.6). In summary, the fusion rules involving the KW duality defects are

$$(\mathcal{N}_{0}^{t})^{\dagger} \times \mathcal{N}_{0}^{t} = 1 + U_{0}^{t}, \quad \mathcal{N}_{0}^{t} \times U_{0}^{t} = \mathcal{N}_{0}^{t}, \quad \widehat{U}_{-\frac{1}{2}}^{t} \times \mathcal{N}_{0}^{t} = \mathcal{N}_{0}^{t}.$$
 (2.15)

Mobility of KW duality defects: We proceed to probe the mobility of the KW duality defect, by shifting it along the space. Following the discussion around (2.3), we need to find a local unitary operator W such that

$$\mathcal{N}_1^t = \mathcal{N}_0^t W \,. \tag{2.16}$$

Here, \mathcal{N}_1^t is defined by a shift \mathcal{N}_0^t by one site,

$$\mathcal{N}_{1}^{t} |\{s_{i}\}\rangle = \frac{1}{2^{\ell/2}} \sum_{\{\widehat{s}_{i-\frac{1}{2}}\}_{i \leq 1}} (-1)^{\sum_{j \leq 1} (s_{j-1}+s_{j})\widehat{s}_{j-\frac{1}{2}}} |\{\widehat{s}_{i-\frac{1}{2}}\}_{i \leq 1}; \{s_{i}\}_{i>1}\rangle .$$
(2.17)

The form of W has already been found in [52, Sec. 3.3] and [157, Sec. VI.A]. Concretely,

$$W = \mathsf{CZ}_{0,1}\mathsf{H}_1\,,\tag{2.18}$$

where $CZ_{0,1}$ is the control Z gate acting on site 0 and 1, and H_1 is the Hadamard gate acting on site 1. In terms of Pauli matrices, they are

$$\mathsf{CZ}_{0,1} = \frac{1}{2} (1 + \sigma_0^z + \sigma_1^z - \sigma_0^z \sigma_1^z), \quad \mathsf{H}_1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\sigma_1^z + \sigma_1^x), \quad (2.19)$$

¹²Note that we only identify two defects that differ by a *local* unitary operator. Locality here means the unitary operator is of the same spatial dimension as the boundary of the twist operator, and in this case is zero-dimensional. We do not a priori identify $\hat{U}_{-\frac{1}{2}}^t \times \mathcal{N}_0^t$ with \mathcal{N}_0^t because $\hat{U}_{-\frac{1}{2}}^t$ is not local, although they are eventually identified after computation.

from which we can derive their action on the basis product states,

$$\mathsf{CZ}_{0,1} |s_0, s_1\rangle = (-1)^{s_0 s_1} |s_0, s_1\rangle, \quad \mathsf{H}_1 |s_1\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \sum_{s_1'=0}^{1} (-1)^{s_1 s_1'} |s_1'\rangle.$$
(2.20)

The $\mathsf{CZ}_{0,1}$ operator maps σ_0^x to $\sigma_0^x \sigma_1^z$, and leaves everything else invariant. The H_1 operation exchanges $\sigma_1^x \leftrightarrow \sigma_1^z$. As a quick consistency check, note that \mathcal{N}_i^t satisfies the fusion rule $(\mathcal{N}_i^t)^{\dagger} \times \mathcal{N}_i^t = 1 + U_i^t$ for i = 0, 1. Combining with (2.16), we have $U_1^t = W^{\dagger}U_0^tW$. Since U_0^t is $\prod_{i \leq 0} \sigma_i^x$, first conjugating by $\mathsf{CZ}_{0,1}$ appends a σ_1^z to U_0^t , and further conjugating by H_1 maps σ_1^z to σ_1^x , giving rise to U_1^t , as expected. With this, let us explicitly check (2.16),

$$\mathcal{N}_{0}^{t}W|\{s_{i}\}\rangle = \mathcal{N}_{0}^{t}\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\sum_{s_{1}'}(-1)^{s_{1}s_{1}'+s_{0}s_{1}'}|\{s_{i}\}_{i\leq0};s_{1}';\{s_{i}\}_{i>1}\rangle$$

$$= \frac{1}{2^{(\ell+1)/2}}\sum_{\{\widehat{s}_{i-\frac{1}{2}}\}_{i\leq0},s_{1}'}(-1)^{\sum_{j\leq0}(s_{j-1}+s_{j})\widehat{s}_{j-\frac{1}{2}}+(s_{0}+s_{1})s_{1}'}|\{\widehat{s}_{i-\frac{1}{2}}\}_{i\leq0};s_{1}';\{s_{i}\}_{i>1}\rangle .$$
(2.21)

After relabeling the dummy variable $s'_1 \to \hat{s}_{\frac{1}{2}}$, the right-hand side in the second row is exactly the same as $\mathcal{N}_1^t |\{s_i\}\rangle$ in (2.17). This shows that the KW duality defect is mobile under translation along the space direction.

So far, we showed that the KW duality operator is mobile under translation along the time direction, and the KW duality defect is mobile under translation along the space direction. To fully establish the topologicalness of the KW duality symmetry generator, we also need to discuss the mobility when we bend the time-like defect into the space-like operator. See [83, 142–144] for related discussions on invertible and subsystem symmetries. We will not try to prove the full topologicalness of the KW duality symmetry generator in the current work.

2.4 KW duality symmetry

We further redefine the spins on the links to spins on sites. Concretely,

$$\widehat{s}_{i+\frac{1}{2}} \to s'_i \tag{2.22}$$

for any *i*. We also relabel $\hat{t} \to t', \hat{u} \to u'$. Under this modification, the KW duality operator maps within a single Hilbert space. In this way, the KW duality can be lifted as a symmetry of the lattice models. Under this redefinition, (2.4) becomes

$$\bar{\mathcal{N}}|\{s_i\}\rangle := \frac{1}{2^{\frac{L}{2}}} \sum_{\{s_i'\}} (-1)^{\sum_{j=1}^{L} (s_j + s_{j+1})s_j' + t's_{L+1}} |\{s_i'\}\rangle = \frac{1}{2^{\frac{L}{2}}} \sum_{\{s_i'\}} (-1)^{\sum_{j=1}^{L} (s_{j-1}' + s_j')s_j + ts_0'} |\{s_i'\}\rangle.$$
(2.23)

Here we use a bar to distinguish it from (2.4). KW transformation \overline{N} induces the following transformation of Pauli operators

$$\bar{\mathcal{N}}\sigma_i^z\sigma_{i+1}^z|\psi\rangle = \sigma_i^x\bar{\mathcal{N}}|\psi\rangle, \quad \bar{\mathcal{N}}\sigma_i^x|\psi\rangle = \sigma_{i-1}^z\sigma_i^z\bar{\mathcal{N}}|\psi\rangle, \quad \forall |\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}.$$
(2.24)

and therefore leaves the Ising model with a critical transverse field invariant. One advantage of this redefinition is that it now makes sense to compute $\overline{N} \times \overline{N}$, while before redefinition it only makes sense to compute $N \times N^{\dagger}$ or $N^{\dagger} \times N$. With this definition, it is straightforward to calculate the fusion of symmetry operator \overline{N} :

$$\bar{\mathcal{N}} \times U = (-1)^{t'} \bar{\mathcal{N}}, \quad U \times \bar{\mathcal{N}} = (-1)^{t} \bar{\mathcal{N}}, \quad \bar{\mathcal{N}} \times \bar{\mathcal{N}} = (-1)^{tt'} (1 + (-1)^{t'} U) T,$$
 (2.25)

where T is one-site translation operator

$$T |\{s_i\}\rangle = |\{s'_i = s_{i+1}\}\rangle .$$
(2.26)

For example, we can confirm the last identity in (2.25) by the following calculation

$$\bar{\mathcal{N}}\bar{\mathcal{N}}|\{s_i\}\rangle = \frac{1}{2^L} \sum_{\{s'_i\},\{s''_i\}} (-1)^{\sum_{j=1}^L (s_j+s_{j+1})s'_j+t's_{L+1} + \sum_{j=1}^L (s''_{j-1}+s''_j)s'_j+t's''_0} |\{s''_i\}\rangle
= \sum_{\{s''_i\}} \left(\prod_{j=1}^L \delta_{s_j+s_{j+1}+s''_{j-1}+s''_j} \right) (-1)^{t'(s_{L+1}+s''_0)} |\{s''_i\}\rangle
= \sum_{\{s''_i\}} \left(\prod_{j=1}^L \delta_{s_j+s_{j+1}+s''_{j-1}+s''_j} \right) (-1)^{t't+t'(s_1+s''_0)} |\{s''_i\}\rangle
= (-1)^{tt'} \left(|\{s''_i = s_{i+1}\}\rangle + (-1)^{t'} |\{s''_i = s_{i+1} + 1\}\rangle \right)$$
(2.27)

Under (2.22), the twist operator (2.10) is modified to

$$\bar{\mathcal{N}}_{0}^{t} |\{s_{i}\}\rangle = \frac{1}{2^{\ell/2}} \sum_{\{s_{i}'\}_{i \leq 0}} (-1)^{\sum_{j \leq 0} (s_{j}+s_{j+1})s_{j}'} |\{s_{i}'\}_{i \leq 0}; \{s_{i}\}_{i>0}\rangle$$

$$= \frac{1}{2^{\ell/2}} \sum_{\{s_{i}'\}_{i \leq 0}} (-1)^{\sum_{j \leq 0} (s_{j-1}'+s_{j}')s_{j}+s_{0}'s_{1}} |\{s_{i}'\}_{i \leq 0}; \{s_{i}\}_{i>0}\rangle$$
(2.28)

which creates the corresponding defect at i = 0. One can directly calculate the fusion rules of defects. For example,

$$\bar{\mathcal{N}}_{0}^{t} \times \bar{\mathcal{N}}_{0}^{t} |\{s_{i}\}\rangle = \frac{1}{2^{\ell}} \sum_{\{s_{i}''\}_{i \leq 0}, \{s_{i}'\}_{i \leq 0}} (-1)^{\sum_{j \leq 0}(s_{j}+s_{j+1})s_{j}' + \sum_{j \leq 0}(s_{j-1}''+s_{j}'')s_{j}' + s_{0}''s_{1}} |\{s_{i}''\}_{i \leq 0}; \{s_{i}\}_{i > 0}\rangle$$

$$= \left(\prod_{j \leq 1} \delta_{s_{j}+s_{j-1}''} + \prod_{j \leq 1} \delta_{s_{j}+s_{j-1}''+1}\right) (-1)^{s_{0}''s_{1}} |\{s_{i}''\}_{i \leq 0}; \{s_{i}\}_{i > 0}\rangle$$

$$= (-1)^{s_{1}} |\{s_{i}'' = s_{i+1}\}_{i \leq 0}; \{s_{i}\}_{i > 0}\rangle + |\{s_{i}'' = s_{i+1}+1\}_{i \leq 0}; \{s_{i}\}_{i > 0}\rangle$$

$$= (\sigma_{0}^{z} + U_{0}^{t})T_{0}^{t} |\{s_{i}\}\rangle,$$
(2.29)

where T_0^t is the translation twist operator at i = 0 and shifts the left half chain by one site

$$T_0^t |\{s_i\}\rangle = |\{s_i' = s_{i+1}\}_{i \le 0}; \{s_i\}_{i > 0}\rangle .$$
(2.30)

We can identify $\sigma_0^z T_0^t$ and T_0^t in the fusion rule because they are related by the local unitary operator σ_0^z . In summary, we have

$$\bar{\mathcal{N}}_{0}^{t} \times U_{0}^{t} = U_{0}^{t} \times \bar{\mathcal{N}}_{0}^{t} = \bar{\mathcal{N}}_{0}^{t}, \quad \bar{\mathcal{N}}_{0}^{t} \times \bar{\mathcal{N}}_{0}^{t} = (1 + U_{0}^{t})T_{0}^{t}.$$
(2.31)

The symmetry defect $\bar{\mathcal{N}}_0^t$ is movable because when acting the local operator $W' = \mathsf{CZ}_{1,2}\mathsf{H}_1$ we will get the defect $\bar{\mathcal{N}}_1^t = \bar{\mathcal{N}}_0^t W'$ acting at one site right.¹³

2.5 Anomaly of KW duality symmetry

We end this section by commenting on the anomaly of the KW duality symmetry. The anomaly of non-invertible symmetries in (1+1)d has been discussed in [55, 106] via modular transformation, and was later more systematically explored in [56, 59]. In this subsection, we review the approach in [106] in probing the anomaly of the KW duality symmetry, as a preparation for the anomaly of the subsystem KW symmetry.

The anomaly of the KW duality symmetry can be seen by contradiction. Suppose it is nonanomalous, which means that there is an invertible theory (i.e. a gapped theory with one ground state) with KW duality symmetry. The only invertible theory is a trivial theory, and in the fixed point limit, the partition function is $Z_{triv} = 1$. Performing the KW duality transformation amounts to gauging the \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry, which maps $Z_{triv} = 1$ to a \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry breaking phase ¹⁴

$$Z_{\text{SSB}}[A] = \sum_{a \in \mathbb{Z}_2} (-1)^{\int aA} = \sum_{W^a_\tau, W^a_x = 0, 1} (-1)^{W^a_\tau W^A_\tau + W^a_x W^A_\tau} = \delta(W^A_\tau) \delta(W^A_x) \,. \tag{2.33}$$

where in the second equality we assume the spacetime to be a torus, and $W^{a,A}_{\tau,x}$ is the Wilson line of a, A along the τ, x direction respectively. Clearly, a \mathbb{Z}_2 SSB theory is not equivalent to a trivial theory. This means that the trivial theory is not compatible with the KW duality symmetry, i.e. the KW duality symmetry is anomalous.

$$H_{D_{\sigma} \times D_{\sigma}} = -(\sum_{i \neq 3,4} \sigma_i^z \sigma_{i+1}^z + \sum_{i \neq 4} \sigma_i^x + \sigma_3^z \sigma_4^x \sigma_5^x)$$
(2.32)

¹³The translation defect in the fusion rule of two KW operators/defects in the transverse field Ising model was emphasized in [153], which is termed non-invertible translation symmetry. This translation operator/defect could not be seen if one compute $N^{\dagger} \times N$ when we define the Hilbert space after KW on links rather than on sites. It is interesting to note that the same translation effect has been implicitly observed in [157, Sec. VI]. The authors of [157] discussed the critical transverse field lsing model with two defects on the closed chain. When the two defects fuses, e.g. at the fourth site, the corresponding Hamiltonian with L spins is

Since σ_4^x commute with this Hamiltonian, the Hibert space can be decomposed into two sectors based on the parity of the fourth spin. The Hamiltonian in sector labeled by $\sigma^x = \pm 1$ is just the usual lsing chain with L - 1 spins under periodic boundary condition and twisted boundary condition. The decoupling effectively reduces the length of the spin chain by one, i.e. from L spins to L - 1 spins, which is equivalent to adding a defect of translation.

¹⁴We will suppress the normalization.

3 Subsystem Kramers-Wannier duality operators and defects in (2+1)d spin systems

In this section, we generalize the discussion in Sec. 2 to lattice models with non-anomalous subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetries in (2 + 1)d. We also assume that the system is invariant under the gauging of the subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry, which generalizes the KW duality symmetry to the subsystem KW duality symmetry. We further study various properties of its associated symmetry operators and defects, including their mobility, fusion rules, interplay with boundary conditions, and anomalies. Unlike in (1 + 1)d where the KW duality operator and KW duality defect share essentially the same properties, here we find that the subsystem KW duality operator and subsystem KW duality defect have very different properties. This is expected since theories with subsystem symmetry are incompatible with Lorentz symmetry.

3.1 Subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry and twist operators

We first review the properties of a subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry in (2 + 1)d, following [89]. Consider a non-anomalous (on-site) subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetric theory on either a square lattice with $L_x \times L_y$ sites or an infinite square lattice. On each site there is a spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ variable $s_{i,j} \in \{0, 1\}$. When the square lattice is infinitely large, the subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry is generated by \mathbb{Z}_2 operators on each line and column

$$U_j^x = \prod_{i' \in \mathbb{Z}} \sigma_{i',j}^x, \quad U_i^y = \prod_{j' \in \mathbb{Z}} \sigma_{i,j'}^x, \quad i, j \in \mathbb{Z},$$
(3.1)

whose eigenvalues we denote as $(-1)^{u_j^x}$, $(-1)^{u_i^y}$ respectively. Similar to the case of an ordinary \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry in (1+1)d, the subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry operators have \mathbb{Z}_2 self fusion rules and they are mobile/topological along the time direction. However, they are *not* mobile/topological in the space direction. We should label these operators by their locations on the lattice.

On a finite lattice (i.e. a torus), there is a constraint in the product of all symmetry generators

$$\prod_{i=1}^{L_x} U_i^y \prod_{j=1}^{L_y} U_j^x = 1, \qquad (3.2)$$

since Pauli operators on each site appear twice on the left-hand side. The total number of symmetry generators is $2^{L_x+L_y-1}$. The action of symmetry generators on a finite lattice is shown schematically in Fig. 3. We define the subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry group as $\mathbb{Z}_2^{\text{sub}}$,

$$\mathbb{Z}_{2}^{\text{sub}} = \left\langle U_{i}^{y}, U_{j}^{x} \middle| \left(U_{j}^{x} \right)^{2} = \left(U_{i}^{y} \right)^{2} = \prod_{i=1}^{L_{x}} U_{i}^{y} \prod_{j=1}^{L_{y}} U_{j}^{x} = 1, \text{ with } i = 1, ..., L_{x}, j = 1, ..., L_{y} \right\rangle.$$
(3.3)

We proceed to consider subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 defects at each site along time direction. On an infinite square lattice, these defects can be created by acting twist operators $U_{0,j}^{xt}$ and $U_{i,0}^{yt}$ on the Hilbert



Figure 3: Examples of subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry operators, defect operators and twist operators.

space, where

$$U_{0,j}^{xt} = \prod_{i' \le 0} \sigma_{i',j}^x, \quad U_{i,0}^{yt} = \prod_{j' \le 0} \sigma_{i,j'}^x.$$
(3.4)

Clearly, the subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 defects satisfy the \mathbb{Z}_2 fusion rule, $U_{0,j}^{xt} \times U_{0,j}^{xt} = U_{i,0}^{yt} \times U_{i,0}^{yt} = 1$. To see the mobility, note that $U_{1,j}^{xt}$ and $U_{0,j}^{xt}$ differ by a local unitary operator, i.e. $U_{1,j}^{xt} = U_{0,j}^{xt}\sigma_{1,j}^x$, hence the defect created by $U_{0,j}^{xt}$ is mobile along the x direction. On the other hand, since $U_{0,j+1}^{xt}$ and $U_{0,j}^{xt}$ differ by a string (non-local) unitary operator, i.e. $U_{0,j+1}^{xt} = U_{0,j}^{xt} \prod_{i \leq 0} \sigma_{i,j}^x \sigma_{i,j+1}^x$, the defect is not mobile along the y direction. Indeed, the defects created by $U_{0,j+1}^{xt}$ and $U_{0,j}^{xt}$ are regarded as inequivalent subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 defects. The same discussion applies to $U_{i,0}^{yt}$ as well. We show some examples of symmetry operators, defect operators and twist operators diagrammatically in Fig. 3.

If we consider a finite square lattice instead, inserting a defect changes the boundary condition. The boundary condition is specified by [89]

$$|s_{i+L_x,j}\rangle = |s_{i,j} + t_j^x\rangle, \quad |s_{i,j+L_y}\rangle = |s_{i,j} + t_i^y\rangle, \quad |s_{i+L_x,j+L_y}\rangle = |s_{i,j} + t_j^x + t_j^x + t_i^y\rangle, \quad (3.5)$$

where $t_j^x, t_i^y, t_i^{xy} \in \{0, 1\}, \forall i, j \text{ label the twisted boundary conditions along the j-th row, i-th column and at the corner respectively. We further define boundary conditions of twist variables$

$$t_{j+L}^x = t_j^x + t^{xy}, \quad t_{i+L_x}^y = t_i^y + t^{xy}.$$
 (3.6)

There are $L_x + L_y + 1$ twist parameters but the Hamiltonian with subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry depends only on the combinations $\{\mathfrak{t}_{j+\frac{1}{2}}^x := t_j^x + t_{j+1}^x, \mathfrak{t}_{i+\frac{1}{2}}^y := t_i^y + t_{i+1}^y\}$ [89]. Taking account of the constraint

$$\sum_{j=1}^{L_y} \mathfrak{t}_{j+\frac{1}{2}}^x = \sum_{i=1}^{L_x} \mathfrak{t}_{i+\frac{1}{2}}^y = t^{xy}, \tag{3.7}$$

only $L_x + L_y - 1$ twist variables are distinct.

Similar to the case of (1 + 1)d, the Hilbert space will be divided into symmetry-twist sectors labeled by eigenvalues of the symmetry generators and boundary conditions. Denote the eigenvalues of U_j^x , U_i^y as $(-1)^{u_j^x}$, $(-1)^{u_i^y}$ respectively, with u_j^x , $u_i^y \in \{0, 1\}$. The constraint on the symmetry generators (3.2) leads to $L_x + L_y - 1$ independent symmetry generators, dividing the entire Hilbert space (with a fixed boundary condition) to $2^{L_x+L_y-1}$ sectors. Similarly, the L_x+L_y-1

distinct twist variables $(\mathfrak{t}_{j+\frac{1}{2}}^x,\mathfrak{t}_{i+\frac{1}{2}}^y)$ further divide each symmetry sector into $2^{L_x+L_y-1}$ parts. In total, there are $4^{L_x+L_y-1}$ distinguished symmetry-twist sectors labeled by $(u_j^x, u_i^y, \mathfrak{t}_{j+\frac{1}{2}}^x, \mathfrak{t}_{i+\frac{1}{2}}^y)$.

3.2 Subsystem KW duality operators

In this subsection, we generalize the KW transformation in (1 + 1)d to the *subsystem KW transformation*, defined by gauging the entire subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry in (2 + 1)d. We also assume the theory to be invariant under the subsystem KW transformation. We will demonstrate the construction of the codimension one surface duality operator \mathcal{N}^{sub} acting on the Hilbert space implementing the subsystem KW transformation and derive its fusion rule. Additional technical details about turning on background gauge fields are included in App. A.

Dual lattice: Subsystem KW transformation maps the original square lattice with spin $\{s_{i,j}\}$ to the dual lattice with spin $\{\widehat{s}_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2}}\}$. Each spin $\widehat{s}_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2}} \in \{0,1\}$ lives on the plaquette with boundary conditions

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \widehat{s}_{i+\frac{1}{2}+L_{x},j+\frac{1}{2}} \right\rangle &= \left| \widehat{s}_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2}} + \widehat{t}_{j+\frac{1}{2}}^{x} \right\rangle, \\ \left| \widehat{s}_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2}+L_{y}} \right\rangle &= \left| \widehat{s}_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2}} + \widehat{t}_{i+\frac{1}{2}}^{y} \right\rangle, \\ \left| \widehat{s}_{i+\frac{1}{2}+L_{x},j+\frac{1}{2}+L_{y}} \right\rangle &= \left| \widehat{s}_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2}} + \widehat{t}^{xy} + \widehat{t}_{j+\frac{1}{2}}^{x} + \widehat{t}_{j+\frac{1}{2}}^{y} \right\rangle, \end{aligned}$$
(3.8)

where

$$\hat{t}_{j+\frac{1}{2}+L_y}^x = \hat{t}_{j+\frac{1}{2}}^x + \hat{t}^{xy}, \quad \hat{t}_{i+\frac{1}{2}+L_x}^y = \hat{t}_{i+\frac{1}{2}}^y + \hat{t}^{xy}, \quad \hat{t}_{j+\frac{1}{2}}^x, \hat{t}_{i+\frac{1}{2}}^y, \hat{t}^{xy} \in \{0,1\}, \forall i, j.$$

$$(3.9)$$

We use combined boundary conditions

$$\hat{\mathbf{t}}_{j}^{x} := \hat{t}_{j-\frac{1}{2}}^{x} + \hat{t}_{j+\frac{1}{2}}^{x}, \quad \hat{\mathbf{t}}_{i}^{y} := \hat{t}_{i-\frac{1}{2}}^{y} + \hat{t}_{i+\frac{1}{2}}^{y}.$$
(3.10)

Among them, there are only $L_x + L_y - 1$ independent variables.

Let the Pauli operator $\tau_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2}}^{z}, \tau_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2}}^{x}$ act on the dual lattice. The new subsystem \mathbb{Z}_{2} symmetry is generated by

$$\widehat{U}_{j+\frac{1}{2}}^{x} = \prod_{i=1}^{L_{x}} \tau_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2}}^{x}, \quad \widehat{U}_{i+\frac{1}{2}}^{y} = \prod_{j=1}^{L_{y}} \tau_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2}}^{x}, \quad (3.11)$$

with the constraint $\prod_{j=1}^{L_y} \widehat{U}_{j+\frac{1}{2}}^x \prod_{i=1}^{L_x} \widehat{U}_{i+\frac{1}{2}}^y = 1$. Denoting the eigenvalues of the symmetry generators as $(-1)^{\widehat{u}_{j+\frac{1}{2}}^x}, (-1)^{\widehat{u}_{i+\frac{1}{2}}^y} = \pm 1$, the Hilbert space on the dual lattice is divided into $2^{L_x+L_y-1} \times 2^{L_x+L_y-1}$ symmetry-twist sectors labeled by $(\widehat{u}_{j+\frac{1}{2}}^x, \widehat{u}_{i+\frac{1}{2}}^y, \widehat{t}_j^x, \widehat{t}_j^y)$.

Subsystem KW transformation: We use short-hand notations $|\{s_{i,j}\}\rangle$ and $|\{\hat{s}_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2}}\}\rangle$ for basis states. Since the action of a symmetry generator in (3.1) only changes the spin along a line or a column, we use $|\{s_{i,j}\}; \{s'_{i,j'}\}\rangle$ for action on j'-th line or $|\{s_{i,j}\}; \{s'_{i',j}\}\rangle$ for action on i'-th column. We adopt the same notation for action on the dual Hilbert space. For instance, the symmetry generators $U_j^x, U_i^y, \hat{U}_{j+\frac{1}{2}}^x, \hat{U}_{i+\frac{1}{2}}^y$ act as

$$U_{j'}^{x} |\{s_{i,j}\}\rangle = |\{s_{i,j}\}; \{1 - s_{i,j'}\}\rangle, \quad \widehat{U}_{j'+\frac{1}{2}}^{x} |\{\widehat{s}_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2}}\}\rangle = |\{\widehat{s}_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2}}\}; \{1 - \widehat{s}_{i+\frac{1}{2},j'+\frac{1}{2}}\}\rangle.$$
(3.12)

Compared with (1 + 1)d, we define the action of subsystem KW transformation \mathcal{N}^{sub} on the entire Hilbert space by attaching a phase to the dual basis state and summing over all the dual basis states. The exponent of the phase contains the term reminiscent of the minimal coupling of a subsystem gauge field on the plaquette as well as the boundary term that gives the following mapping between symmetry-twist sectors

$$\widehat{u}_{j+\frac{1}{2}}^{x} = \mathfrak{t}_{j+\frac{1}{2}}^{x}, \quad \widehat{u}_{i+\frac{1}{2}}^{y} = \mathfrak{t}_{i+\frac{1}{2}}^{y}, \quad \widehat{\mathfrak{t}}_{j}^{x} = u_{j}^{x}, \quad \widehat{\mathfrak{t}}_{i}^{y} = u_{i}^{y}, \quad (3.13)$$

as shown in Fig. 4.



Figure 4: Mapping of symmetry-twist sectors.

Concretely, the subsystem KW duality operator is defined as

$$\mathcal{N}^{\text{sub}} |\{s_{i,j}\}\rangle = \frac{1}{2^{(L_x + L_y)/2}} \sum_{\{\widehat{s}_{i+\frac{1}{2}, j+\frac{1}{2}}\}} (-1)^{C_{\text{bulk}} + C_{\text{bdy}}} |\{\widehat{s}_{i+\frac{1}{2}, j+\frac{1}{2}}\}\rangle , \qquad (3.14)$$

where in the exponent C_{bulk} is the bulk minimal coupling between the original spins on sites and dual spins on the plaquette, and C_{bdy} is the boundary coupling ensuring the correct symmetry-twist

sector transformation (3.13),

$$C_{\text{bulk}} := \sum_{i=1}^{L_x} \sum_{j=1}^{L_y} (s_{i-1,j-1} + s_{i,j-1} + s_{i-1,j} + s_{i,j}) \widehat{s}_{i-\frac{1}{2},j-\frac{1}{2}},$$

$$C_{\text{bdy}} := \sum_{j=1}^{L_y} \widehat{t}_{j-\frac{1}{2}}^x (s_{L_x,j} + s_{L_x,j-1}) + \sum_{i=1}^{L_x} \widehat{t}_{i-\frac{1}{2}}^y (s_{i,L_y} + s_{i-1,L_y}) + \widehat{t}^{xy} s_{L_x,L_y},$$
(3.15)

where the spin with index 0 equal to the one with L_x/L_y shifted by proper boundary condition, e.g. $s_{0,0} = s_{L_x,L_y} + t^{xy} + t^x_{L_y} + t^y_{L_x}$. As in (1+1)d, we adopt the same phase for the definition of the subsystem KW transformation \mathcal{N}^{sub} acting on the dual Hilbert space $\widehat{\mathcal{H}}$. The subsystem KW transformation \mathcal{N}^{sub} is Hermitian.

Mapping between Pauli operators: From (3.14) and (3.15), the Pauli operators transform as

$$\mathcal{N}^{\mathrm{sub}}\sigma_{i,j}^{z}\sigma_{i+1,j}^{z}\sigma_{i,j+1}^{z}\sigma_{i+1,j+1}^{z}\left|\psi\right\rangle = \widehat{\sigma}_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2}}^{x}\mathcal{N}^{\mathrm{sub}}\left|\psi\right\rangle, \quad \forall\left|\psi\right\rangle \in \mathcal{H},$$

$$\mathcal{N}^{\mathrm{sub}}\sigma_{i,j}^{x}\left|\psi\right\rangle = \widehat{\sigma}_{i-\frac{1}{2},j-\frac{1}{2}}^{z}\widehat{\sigma}_{i-\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2}}^{z}\widehat{\sigma}_{i+\frac{1}{2},j-\frac{1}{2}}^{z}\widehat{\sigma}_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2}}^{z}\mathcal{N}^{\mathrm{sub}}\left|\psi\right\rangle, \quad \forall\left|\psi\right\rangle \in \mathcal{H}.$$
(3.16)

which is a natural generalization of the ordinary KW transformation in (1 + 1)d.

Fusion rules: Fusion rules can be derived straightforwardly by acting the symmetry operators $U_j^x, U_i^y, \widehat{U}_{j+\frac{1}{2}}^x, \widehat{U}_{i+\frac{1}{2}}^y$ and the duality operator \mathcal{N}^{sub} on a general state $|\psi\rangle = \sum_{\{s_{i,j}\}} \psi_{\{s_{i,j}\}} |\{s_{i,j}\}\rangle$, where $\psi_{\{s_{i,j}\}} = \langle \{s_{i,j}\} |\psi\rangle$ is the wavefunction coefficient. For example, acting $\mathcal{N}^{\text{sub}} \times U_{j'}^x$ on $|\psi\rangle$

$$\mathcal{N}^{\text{sub}} \times U_{j'}^x |\psi\rangle = \sum_{\{s_{i,j}\}, \{\hat{s}_i\}} \psi_{\{s_{i,j}\}; \{1-s_{i,j'}\}} \left(\mathcal{N}^{\text{sub}} |\{s_{i,j}\}\rangle \right) , \qquad (3.17)$$

where we use redefinition of spin $s_{i,j'} \rightarrow 1 - s_{i,j'}$ in the j'-th line. Then we perform the subsystem KW transformation and redefine spins to send $\psi_{\{s_{i,j}\};\{1-s_{i,j'}\}}$ back to $\psi_{\{s_{i,j}\}}$. Under redefinition, the changes in the bulk minimal coupling terms cancel because spins with index j' always appear in pairs. The only contribution is from the boundary term

$$\widehat{t}_{j'-\frac{1}{2}}^{x}(s_{L_{x},j'}+s_{L_{x},j'-1})+\widehat{t}_{j'+\frac{1}{2}}^{x}(s_{L_{x},j'+1}+s_{L_{x},j'})
\rightarrow \widehat{t}_{j'-\frac{1}{2}}^{x}(1-s_{L_{x},j'}+s_{L_{x},j'-1})+\widehat{t}_{j'+\frac{1}{2}}^{x}(s_{L_{x},j'+1}+1-s_{L_{x},j'}),$$
(3.18)

leading to an extra factor $(-1)^{\hat{t}_{j'-\frac{1}{2}}^x + \hat{t}_{j'+\frac{1}{2}}^x} = (-1)^{\hat{t}_{j'}^x}$. Therefore, the fusion rule is

$$\mathcal{N}^{\text{sub}} \times U_{j'}^x = (-1)^{\hat{\mathfrak{t}}_{j'}^x} \mathcal{N}^{\text{sub}} \,. \tag{3.19}$$

By a similar argument, one can work out fusions with other symmetry generators. Here we only list the results:

$$\widehat{U}_{j'+\frac{1}{2}}^{x} \times \mathcal{N}^{\text{sub}} = (-1)^{\mathfrak{t}_{j'+\frac{1}{2}}^{x}} \mathcal{N}^{\text{sub}}, \ \mathcal{N}^{\text{sub}} \times U_{i'}^{y} = (-1)^{\widehat{\mathfrak{t}}_{i'}^{y}} \mathcal{N}^{\text{sub}}, \ \widehat{U}_{i'+\frac{1}{2}}^{y} \times \mathcal{N}^{\text{sub}} = (-1)^{\mathfrak{t}_{i'+\frac{1}{2}}^{y}} \mathcal{N}^{\text{sub}}.$$
(3.20)

For self fusion of the duality operator, by acting $(\mathcal{N}^{\text{sub}})^{\dagger} \times \mathcal{N}^{\text{sub}}$ on a general state $|\psi\rangle$ we get two copies of the phase

$$\sum_{i=1}^{L_x} \sum_{j=1}^{L_y} (s_{i-1,j-1} + s_{i,j-1} + s_{i-1,j} + s_{i,j} + s'_{i-1,j-1} + s'_{i,j-1} + s'_{i-1,j} + s'_{i,j}) \widehat{s}_{i-\frac{1}{2},j-\frac{1}{2}} + \sum_{j=1}^{L_y} \widehat{t}_{j-\frac{1}{2}}^x (s_{L_x,j} + s_{L_x,j-1} + s'_{L_x,j} + s'_{L_x,j-1}) + \sum_{i=1}^{L_x} \widehat{t}_{i-\frac{1}{2}}^y (s_{i,L_y} + s_{i-1,L_y} + s'_{i,L_y} + s'_{i-1,L_y}) + \widehat{t}^{xy} (s_{L_x,L_y} + s'_{L_x,L_y}).$$
(3.21)

We then sum over states in the dual Hilbert space to get a product of delta function constraints on states in the original Hilbert space \mathcal{H}

$$s_{i-1,j-1} + s_{i,j-1} + s_{i-1,j} + s_{i,j} + s'_{i-1,j-1} + s'_{i,j-1} + s'_{i-1,j} + s'_{i,j} = 0, \quad \forall i, j.$$
(3.22)

The general solutions of the constraints are

$$s'_{i,j} = s_{i,j} + m_i^y + m_j^x, \quad m_i^y, m_j^x \in \{0, 1\}, \quad \forall i, j,$$
(3.23)

where m_i^y, m_j^x having value 1 means one insertion of U_i^y, U_j^x respectively. We should then sum over all distinct solutions, ¹⁵

$$M = \left\langle (m_i^y, m_j^x) \middle| m_i^y, m_j^x \in \{0, 1\}, (m_i^y, m_j^x) \simeq (m_i^y + 1, m_j^x + 1) \right\rangle, \quad \forall i, j.$$
(3.24)

The final fusion rule is

$$(\mathcal{N}^{\text{sub}})^{\dagger} \times \mathcal{N}^{\text{sub}} = \sum_{(m_i^y, m_j^x) \in M} (-1)^{\sum_{j=1}^{L_y} \hat{\mathfrak{t}}_j^x m_j^x + \sum_{i=1}^{L_x} \hat{\mathfrak{t}}_i^y m_i^y} \prod_{i=1}^{L_x} (U_i^y)^{m_i^y} \prod_{j=1}^{L_y} (U_j^x)^{m_j^x} , \qquad (3.25)$$

generalizing the ordinary Ising fusion rule. The right-hand side is a sum of the generators of $\mathbb{Z}_2^{\text{sub}}$, reminiscent of the condensation defect that appears in the fusion rule of duality defects in (3+1)d gauge theories [106, 107, 110, 114, 116, 118]. As the operators U_j^x and U_i^y have restricted mobility, and they form grids, we denote the right-hand side as the grid operator,

$$\mathsf{Grid}_{\{\widehat{\mathfrak{t}}_{i}^{y},\widehat{\mathfrak{t}}_{j}^{x}\}} = \sum_{(m_{i}^{y},m_{j}^{x})\in M} (-1)^{\sum_{j=1}^{L_{y}}\widehat{\mathfrak{t}}_{j}^{x}m_{j}^{x} + \sum_{i=1}^{L_{x}}\widehat{\mathfrak{t}}_{i}^{y}m_{i}^{y}} \prod_{i=1}^{L_{x}} (U_{i}^{y})^{m_{i}^{y}} \prod_{j=1}^{L_{y}} (U_{j}^{x})^{m_{j}^{x}}$$
(3.26)

$$= \frac{1}{2} \prod_{i=1}^{L_x} \left(1 + (-1)^{\widehat{\mathfrak{t}}_i^y} U_i^y \right) \prod_{j=1}^{L_y} \left(1 + (-1)^{\widehat{\mathfrak{t}}_j^x} U_j^x \right) \,, \tag{3.27}$$

so that

$$(\mathcal{N}^{\mathrm{sub}})^{\dagger} \times \mathcal{N}^{\mathrm{sub}} = \mathrm{Grid}_{\{\widehat{i}_{i}^{y}, \widehat{i}_{j}^{x}\}} \,. \tag{3.28}$$



Figure 5: Fusion between two subsystem KW duality operators gives rise to a grid operator, where the grid is along the space direction.

We also present this fusion rule in Fig. 5.

To the authors' knowledge, the subsystem KW duality operator \mathcal{N}^{sub} is the first explicit example of a *non-invertible* operator in models with subsystem symmetry, which generates a *non-invertible subsystem KW duality symmetry*.

Example: A canonical example with subsystem KW duality is the plaquette Ising model with the critical transverse field in (2 + 1)d:

$$H_{\text{PIsing}} = -\sum_{i=1}^{L_x} \sum_{j=1}^{L_y} \sigma_{i,j}^z \sigma_{i+1,j}^z \sigma_{i,j+1}^z \sigma_{i+1,j+1}^z - \sum_{i=1}^{L_x} \sum_{j=1}^{L_y} \sigma_{i,j}^x.$$
(3.29)

This model can describe a square array of superconductor grains with frustrating geometric phases and the states with eigenvalue $\sigma^z = \pm 1$ are associated with $p \pm ip$ order of each grain [171, 172]. The first term of Hamiltonian represents the phase acquired by a Cooper pair in the process of encircling a plaquette, while the second term arises from tunneling between the $p \pm ip$ order parameters. Applying the subsystem KW transformation, one obtains the dual Hamiltonian

$$\widehat{H}_{\text{PIsing}} = -\sum_{i=1}^{L_x} \sum_{j=1}^{L_y} \widehat{\sigma}_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2}}^x - \sum_{i=1}^{L_x} \sum_{j=1}^{L_y} \widehat{\sigma}_{i-\frac{1}{2},j-\frac{1}{2}}^z \widehat{\sigma}_{i+\frac{1}{2},j-\frac{1}{2}}^z \widehat{\sigma}_{i-\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2}}^z \widehat{\sigma}_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2}}^z \widehat{\sigma}_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2}}^z .$$
(3.30)

After relabeling the spins on the sites and on the plaquettes, the two Hamiltonians coincide, $H_{\text{PIsing}} = \hat{H}_{\text{PIsing}}$, hence the critical Plaquette Ising model has a subsystem KW duality symmetry. We will also formulate this symmetry by performing the subsystem KW transformation on the same lattice, as shown in Sec. 3.4.

Moreover, the plaquette Ising model (3.29), as a (2 + 1)d quantum spin model, has a corresponding 3d anisotropic classical model on the cube lattice [172, 173]:

$$-\beta E = -K \sum_{\vec{j}} s_{\vec{j}} s_{\vec{j}+\vec{e}_x} s_{\vec{j}+\vec{e}_y} s_{\vec{j}+\vec{e}_x+\vec{e}_y} - J_z \sum_{\vec{j}} s_{\vec{j}} s_{\vec{j}+\vec{e}_z}.$$
(3.31)

¹⁵The global constraint can be seen as follows. Each configuration of m's specifies a profile of operators U's. Since the product of all U operators is a trivial operator as shown in (3.2), and the product of all U corresponds to all m's being 1, we should identify $(m_i^y, m_i^x) \simeq (m_i^y + 1, m_i^x + 1)$ for all i, j.

where $s = \pm 1$ is put on each vertex. The first term is between four spins of all plaquettes in the xy planes and the second term is between two spins over all bonds in the z direction. In this classical model, the subsystem KW transformation represents a duality between the partition function of high temperature and low temperature. Numerical calculations indicate that the phase transition at the self-dual point is first order [174].

3.3 Subsystem KW duality defects

We switch to discussing the defects associated with the subsystem KW duality symmetry by placing one direction of the duality operator along the time. These defects are 2d surfaces with one direction along the time, and another direction along the space. For simplicity, we work on the infinite 2d square lattice. After defining the subsystem KW duality defect via the subsystem KW duality twist operator, we discuss the fusion rules as well as the mobility under translation along the space direction. For simpler conventions, we will adopt the same notation for the twist operator and the corresponding duality defect.

Subsystem KW duality defect from subsystem KW duality twist operator: On the infinite 2d lattice, consider a subsystem KW duality defect localized at a line S that divides the space into two halves S_+ and S_- . Insertion of such a defect is realized by a twist operator $\mathcal{N}_S^{\text{sub}}$ that acts on the half-space S_- and terminates at S. The twist operator $\mathcal{N}_S^{\text{sub}}$ is defined as

$$\mathcal{N}_{S}^{\text{sub}}|\{s_{i,j}\}\rangle = \frac{1}{2^{(\ell_{S_{-}})/2}} \sum_{\{\widehat{s}_{i-\frac{1}{2},j-\frac{1}{2}}\}_{S_{-}}} (-1)^{C_{S}^{\text{half}}}|\{\widehat{s}_{i-\frac{1}{2},j-\frac{1}{2}}\}_{S_{-}};\{s_{i,j}\}_{S_{+}}\rangle , \qquad (3.32)$$

where

$$C_S^{\text{half}} := \sum_{S_-} (s_{i-1,j-1} + s_{i,j-1} + s_{i-1,j} + s_{i,j}) \widehat{s}_{i-\frac{1}{2},j-\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(3.33)

In both equations, the summation is over the half-space S_{-} , and $\ell_{S_{-}}$ is a formal parameter counting the number of sites covered by S_{-} . The action of the Hermitian conjugate of the twist operator is defined as

$$(N_{S}^{\text{sub}})^{\dagger} |\{\widehat{s}_{i-\frac{1}{2},j-\frac{1}{2}}\}_{S_{-}};\{s_{i,j}\}_{S_{+}}\rangle = \frac{1}{2^{(\ell_{S_{-}})/2}} \sum_{\{s_{i,j}\}_{S_{-}}} (-1)^{C_{S}^{\text{half}}} |\{s_{i,j}\}\rangle .$$
(3.34)

In Fig. 6, we give several typical examples of subsystem KW duality defects.

Fusion rule: We can derive the fusion rules of the subsystem KW duality defects by acting the corresponding twist operators on the same region. Here we list fusion rules of the twist operators



(a) Defect localized at $j \ge \frac{1}{2}$. (b) Defect localized at $j \ge \frac{1}{2}$. (c) Defect localized at $\star : i = \frac{1}{2}, j \ge \frac{1}{2}, j$

Figure 6: Three examples of subsystem KW duality defects. An action of a twist operator on the half-space S_{-} amounts to an insertion of a duality defect localized at line S.

shown in Fig. 6,

$$(\mathcal{N}_{i=\frac{1}{2}}^{\mathrm{sub}})^{\dagger} \times \mathcal{N}_{i=\frac{1}{2}}^{\mathrm{sub}} = \sum_{\substack{m_i^y, m_j^x = 0, 1 \\ i \leq 0}} \prod_{i \leq 0} (U_i^y)^{m_i^y} \prod_j (U_{0,j}^{xt})^{m_j^x} ,$$

$$(\mathcal{N}_{j=\frac{1}{2}}^{\mathrm{sub}})^{\dagger} \times \mathcal{N}_{j=\frac{1}{2}}^{\mathrm{sub}} = \sum_{\substack{m_i^y, m_j^x = 0, 1 \\ m_i^y, m_j^x = 0, 1 \\ i \leq 0}} \prod_i (U_{0,i}^{yt})^{m_j^y} \prod_{j \leq 0} (U_{0,j}^x)^{m_j^x} ,$$

$$(3.35)$$

$$(\mathcal{N}_{\star}^{\mathrm{sub}})^{\dagger} \times \mathcal{N}_{\star}^{\mathrm{sub}} = \sum_{\substack{m_i^y, m_j^x = 0, 1 \\ m_i^y, m_j^x = 0, 1 \\ i \leq 0}} \prod_{i \leq 0} (U_{0,i}^{yt})^{m_1^y} \prod_{j > 0} (U_{0,j}^{xt})^{m_j^x} \prod_{j \leq 0} (U_{1,j}^{xt})^{m_j^x} ,$$

where twist operators $\mathcal{N}_{i=\frac{1}{2}}^{\text{sub}}$, $\mathcal{N}_{j=\frac{1}{2}}^{\text{sub}}$ and $\mathcal{N}_{\star}^{\text{sub}}$ correspond to defects located at $i = \frac{1}{2}$, $j = \frac{1}{2}$ and \star respectively.

Let us interpret the first fusion rule in (3.35). On the right-hand side, each term in the sum is a product of symmetry operators U_i^y and twist operators $U_{0,j}^{xt}$. Note that appending a symmetry operator, e.g. U_i^y , to a twist operator does not change the twisted Hamiltonian (since the symmetry operator commutes with the Hamiltonian). Hence the twist operator on the right-hand side of (3.35) should be defined up to symmetry operators. Hence (3.35) simplifies to

$$(\mathcal{N}_{i=\frac{1}{2}}^{\text{sub}})^{\dagger} \times \mathcal{N}_{i=\frac{1}{2}}^{\text{sub}} = \sum_{m_{j}^{x}=0,1} \prod_{j} (U_{0,j}^{xt})^{m_{j}^{x}} ,$$

$$(\mathcal{N}_{j=\frac{1}{2}}^{\text{sub}})^{\dagger} \times \mathcal{N}_{j=\frac{1}{2}}^{\text{sub}} = \sum_{m_{i}^{y}=0,1} \prod_{i} (U_{0,i}^{yt})^{m_{i}^{y}} ,$$

$$(\mathcal{N}_{\star}^{\text{sub}})^{\dagger} \times \mathcal{N}_{\star}^{\text{sub}} = \sum_{m_{1}^{y},m_{j}^{x}=0,1} (U_{0,1}^{yt})^{m_{1}^{y}} \prod_{j>0} (U_{0,j}^{xt})^{m_{j}^{x}} \prod_{j\leq0} (U_{1,j}^{xt})^{m_{j}^{x}} .$$

$$(3.36)$$

The right-hand side is again a grid defect, but the grid is only along the time direction. See Fig. 7 for the first fusion rule in (3.36). The fusion rules of subsystem KW duality defects in (3.36) are different from those of the subsystem KW duality operators in (3.25). That there are differences between space-like operators and time-like defects is a typical feature of subsystem symmetries, which are inherently non-relativistic.



Figure 7: Fusion between two subsystem KW duality defects gives rise to a grid defect, where the grid is along the time direction.

Next, let us consider the fusion rules of the \mathbb{Z}_2 defects and the subsystem KW duality defects. To fuse them, the \mathbb{Z}_2 defect should be inserted in the surface where the duality defect resides. In other words, the corresponding \mathbb{Z}_2 twist operator should terminate on S when subsystem KW twist operator $\mathcal{N}_S^{\text{sub}}$ is considered. For simplicity, consider the fusion of $\mathcal{N}_{i=\frac{1}{2}}^{\text{sub}}$, $U_{0,j}^{xt}$ and $\hat{U}_{-\frac{1}{2},j-\frac{1}{2}}^{xt}$. The fusion rules are

$$\mathcal{N}_{i=\frac{1}{2}}^{\text{sub}} \times U_{0,j}^{xt} = U_{0,j}^{xt},$$

$$\widehat{U}_{-\frac{1}{2},j-\frac{1}{2}}^{xt} \times \mathcal{N}_{i=\frac{1}{2}}^{\text{sub}} = \widehat{U}_{-\frac{1}{2},j-\frac{1}{2}}^{xt} \sigma_{0,j-1}^{z} \sigma_{0,j}^{z} \sim \widehat{U}_{-\frac{1}{2},j-\frac{1}{2}}^{xt}.$$
(3.37)

Here we identify two defects related by a local unitary operator in the same equivalent class. Therefore, we find the same fusion rules as (3.19) and (3.20).

Mobility of subsystem KW duality defects: We proceed to examine the mobility of the subsystem KW duality defects. Intuitively, since the subsystem symmetry is not mobile under a generic translation along the space, so does the subsystem KW duality defect. However, below we will find that this is not true. We will demonstrate the mobility by studying the example in Fig. 8, where the deformation happens only around the origin.

We find a local unitary operator W relating the two duality twist operators

$$\mathcal{N}_{S'}^{\mathrm{sub}} = \mathcal{N}_{S}^{\mathrm{sub}} W \,, \tag{3.38}$$



Figure 8: Duality defects located on S and S'. We show that one can be moved to the other by a local unitary operator.

where

$$W = \mathsf{CZ}_{(0,0),(1,1)}\mathsf{CZ}_{(1,0),(1,1)}\mathsf{CZ}_{(0,1),(1,1)}\mathsf{H}_{(1,1)}.$$
(3.39)

We adopt the same convention as in the previous section, i.e. $CZ_{(i,j),(i',j')}$ is the control Z gate acting on sites (i, j) and (i', j'), and $H_{(1,1)}$ is the Hadamard gate acting on site (1, 1). (3.38) can be checked directly

$$\mathcal{N}_{S}^{\text{sub}}W|\{s_{i,j}\}\rangle = \mathcal{N}_{S}^{\text{sub}}\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\sum_{s_{1,1}'} (-1)^{(s_{0,0}+s_{0,1}+s_{1,0}+s_{1,1})s_{1,1}'}|\{s_{i,j}\}_{S_{-}};s_{1,1}';\{s_{i,j}\}_{S_{+}'}\rangle$$

$$= \frac{1}{2^{(\ell_{S_{-}}+1)/2}}\sum_{\{\hat{s}_{i-\frac{1}{2},j-\frac{1}{2}}\}_{S_{-}},s_{1,1}'} (-1)^{C_{S}^{\text{half}}+(s_{0,0}+s_{0,1}+s_{1,0}+s_{1,1})s_{1,1}'}|\{\hat{s}_{i-\frac{1}{2},j-\frac{1}{2}}\}_{S_{-}};s_{1,1}';\{s_{i,j}\}_{S_{+}'}\rangle$$

$$\stackrel{s_{1,1}'\to\hat{s}_{\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}}}{=}\frac{1}{2^{(\ell_{S_{-}}')/2}}\sum_{\{\hat{s}_{i-\frac{1}{2},j-\frac{1}{2}}\}_{S_{-}'}} (-1)^{C_{S'}^{\text{half}}}|\{\hat{s}_{i-\frac{1}{2},j-\frac{1}{2}}\}_{S_{-}'};\{s_{i,j}\}_{S_{+}'}\rangle = \mathcal{N}_{S'}^{\text{sub}}|\{s_{i,j}\}\rangle .$$

$$(3.40)$$

This shows that the two defects $\mathcal{N}_{S'}^{\text{sub}}$ and $\mathcal{N}_{S}^{\text{sub}}$ are equivalent, hence the defect is mobile under a spatial deformation. As commented at the end of Sec. 2.3, this does not prove that the subsystem KW generator is topological under arbitrary spacetime deformation. We will not try to prove this in this work.

3.4 Subsystem KW duality symmetry

We briefly comment on the subsystem KW transformation with a single Hilbert space. Similar to the (1+1)d transformation, we will define a new transformation \overline{N}^{sub} by redefining the plaquette

spins to sites,

$$\widehat{s}_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2}} \to s'_{i,j}$$
 (3.41)

Concretely, (3.14) becomes

$$\bar{\mathcal{N}}^{\text{sub}} |\{s_{i,j}\}\rangle = \frac{1}{2^{(L_x + L_y)/2}} \sum_{\{s'_{i,j}\}} (-1)^{C_{\text{bulk}} + C_{\text{bdy}}} |\{s'_{i,j}\}\rangle , \qquad (3.42)$$

where the bulk and boundary terms are

$$C_{\text{bulk}} := \sum_{i=1}^{L_x} \sum_{j=1}^{L_y} (s_{i,j} + s_{i,j+1} + s_{i+1,j} + s_{i+1,j+1}) s'_{i,j},$$

$$C_{\text{bdy}} := \sum_{j=1}^{L_y} t'^x_j s_{L_x+1,j} + \sum_{i=1}^{L_x} t'^y_i s_{i,L_y+1} + t'^{xy} s_{L_x+1,L_y+1},$$
(3.43)

 $\bar{\mathcal{N}}^{\text{sub}}$ is a symmetry of the critical plaquette Ising model because it exchanges the plaquette- σ^z terms and the transverse- σ^x term

$$\bar{\mathcal{N}}^{\text{sub}}\sigma_{i,j}^{z}\sigma_{i+1,j}^{z}\sigma_{i,j+1}^{z}\sigma_{i+1,j+1}^{z}|\psi\rangle = \sigma_{i,j}^{x}\bar{\mathcal{N}}^{\text{sub}}|\psi\rangle, \quad \forall |\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H},
\bar{\mathcal{N}}^{\text{sub}}\sigma_{i,j}^{x}|\psi\rangle = \sigma_{i,j}^{z}\sigma_{i-1,j}^{z}\sigma_{i,j-1}^{z}\sigma_{i-1,j-1}^{z}\bar{\mathcal{N}}^{\text{sub}}|\psi\rangle, \quad \forall |\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}.$$
(3.44)

In the untwisted sector, the nontrivial fusion rules is

$$\bar{\mathcal{N}}^{\text{sub}} \times \bar{\mathcal{N}}^{\text{sub}} = \prod_{i=1}^{L_x} (1 + U_i^y) \prod_{j=1}^{L_y} (1 + U_j^x) T_{xy}, \qquad (3.45)$$

where T_{xy} implements the lattice translation in the diagonal direction

$$T_{xy} |\{s_{i,j}\}\rangle = |\{s'_{i,j} = s_{i+1,j+1}\}\rangle$$
(3.46)

In a similar way, the symmetry defects are created by acting the twist operators

$$\bar{\mathcal{N}}_{S}^{\text{sub}} |\{s_{i,j}\}\rangle = \frac{1}{2^{(\ell_{S_{-}})/2}} \sum_{\{s_{i,j}'\}_{S_{-}}} (-1)^{\sum_{S_{-}} (s_{i,j} + s_{i+1,j} + s_{i,j+1} + s_{i+1,j+1})s_{i,j}'} |\{s_{i,j}'\}_{S_{-}}; \{s_{i,j}\}_{S_{+}}\rangle \quad (3.47)$$

defined on the half space. The fusion rules and mobility of these defects follows in the similar discussion as Sec. 3.3.

3.5 Anomaly of subsystem KW duality symmetry

We conclude this section by generalizing the approach in Sec. 2.5 to show that the non-invertible subsystem KW duality symmetry is anomalous.

We proceed to prove the anomaly by contradiction. Assume that the subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry is anomaly free, hence it is compatible with a gapped phase with one ground state, i.e. subsystem

symmetry protected topological phase. Such a phase has been classified in [159], which is given by $H^2(\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2, U(1))/(H^2(\mathbb{Z}_2, U(1)))^3 = \mathbb{Z}_2$.¹⁶ Hence there is one trivial phase and one nontrivial phase. The trivial phase has partition function $Z_{\text{triv}} = 1$, and the non-trivial phase has the partition function [161]

$$Z_{\text{SSPT}}[A_{\tau}, A_{xy}] = \int \mathcal{D}\phi^{xy}(-1)^{\int \phi^{xy}(\partial_{\tau}A_{xy} - \partial_{x}\partial_{y}A_{\tau}) + A_{\tau}A_{xy}}, \qquad (3.48)$$

where $\phi^{xy} \in 0, 1$ is an auxiliary field, integrating which constraints the flatness condition of the background field A_{τ}, A_{xy} of the subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 gauge field. See Appendix A or [89] for further discussions on the relation between the subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry operators (3.1) and the subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry background fields on the square lattice. The Lagrangian is invariant under gauge transformation $\phi^{xy} \to \phi^{xy} - \alpha, A_{\tau} \to A_{\tau} + \partial_{\tau}\alpha, A_{xy} \to A_{xy} + \partial_x \partial_y \alpha$.

Let us check whether Z_{triv} and Z_{SSPT} are separately invariant under the subsystem KW transformation, i.e. the gauging of the subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry. For Z_{triv} , gauging subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry gives a spontaneous subsystem symmetry broken (SSSB) phase, whose partition function is ¹⁷

$$Z_{\text{SSSB}} = \int \mathcal{D}a \ (-1)^{\int a_{\tau} A_{xy} + a_{xy} A_{\tau}}$$

$$= \sum_{\text{conf. of } a} (-1)^{\sum_{i=1}^{L_{x}} (W_{\tau,y;i}^{a} W_{y;i}^{A} + W_{\tau,y;i+\frac{1}{2}}^{A} W_{y;i+\frac{1}{2}}^{a}) + \sum_{j=1}^{L_{y}} (W_{\tau,x;j}^{a} W_{x;j}^{A} + W_{\tau,x;j+\frac{1}{2}}^{A} W_{x;j+\frac{1}{2}}^{a})},$$
(3.49)

where we regulate the integration of the dynamical gauge field on a finite cubic lattice with $L_x \times L_y$ sites and suppressed the overall normalization. The sum runs over all configurations of gauge field *a*, which can be converted to the summation over holonomy variables. However, there are only $2(L_x + L_y - 1)$ independent holonomy variables out of $2(L_x + L_y)$ variables

$$W^{a}_{\tau,y;i}, W^{a}_{y;i+\frac{1}{2}}, W^{a}_{\tau,x;j}, W^{a}_{x;j+\frac{1}{2}} \in \{0,1\}.$$
(3.50)

To pick the independent variables, recall the constraint on the space holonomy variables

$$\sum_{i=1}^{L_x} W^a_{y;i+\frac{1}{2}} + \sum_{j=1}^{L_y} W^a_{x;j+\frac{1}{2}} = \sum_{i=1}^{L_x} W^A_{y;i} + \sum_{j=1}^{L_y} W^A_{x;j} = 0, \qquad (3.51)$$

which also shows that the partition function is invariant under a global unit shift of the time holon-

¹⁶The classification is only for strong SSPT phases, while there are also weak SSPT phases. The weak SSPT phases only made use of a subset of symmetry generators, say $\{U_j^x\}$ but not $\{U_i^y\}$, hence the background fields are different. In [161], the weak SSPT with subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry was discussed, whose field theory is $A_t \partial_x A_y$. Below, we would like to discuss the anomaly of the *entire* subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry whose background fields are A_t, A_{xy} , thus we will only discuss the SSPT whose field theory is in terms of A_t, A_{xy} . It turns out that the only SSPT with such a background field is the strong SSPT.

¹⁷Again we will suppress the normalization factor.

omy variables. With the above redundancy, we can choose the following gauge fixing condition

$$W_{\tau,y;1}^{a} = W_{\tau,y;\frac{3}{2}}^{A} = 0,$$

$$W_{y;\frac{3}{2}}^{a} = \sum_{i=2}^{L_{x}} W_{y;i+\frac{1}{2}}^{a} + \sum_{j=1}^{L_{y}} W_{x;j+\frac{1}{2}}^{a},$$

$$W_{y;1}^{A} = \sum_{i=2}^{L_{x}} W_{y;i}^{A} + \sum_{j=1}^{L_{y}} W_{x;j}^{A}.$$
(3.52)

Then we can evaluate the partition function (3.49)

$$Z_{\text{SSSB}} = \sum_{\text{conf. of } a} (-1)^{\sum_{i=2}^{L_x} (W_{\tau,y;i}^a W_{y;i}^A + W_{\tau,y;i+\frac{1}{2}}^A W_{y;i+\frac{1}{2}}^a) + \sum_{j=1}^{L_y} (W_{\tau,x;j}^a W_{x;j}^A + W_{\tau,x;j+\frac{1}{2}}^A W_{x;j+\frac{1}{2}}^a)}$$

$$= \prod_{i=2}^{L_x} \delta(W_{\tau,y;i+\frac{1}{2}}^A) \delta(W_{y;i}^A) \prod_{j=1}^{L_y} \delta(W_{\tau,x;j+\frac{1}{2}}^A) \delta(W_{x;j}^A) .$$
(3.53)

Indeed, the ground state degeneracy is extensive and spontaneously breaks the subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry. This means that the trivial phase is not invariant under gauging.

For Z_{SSPT} , gauging subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry yields a partially spontaneous subsystem symmetry broken (PSSSB) phase, whose partition function is

$$Z_{\text{PSSSB}} = \int \mathcal{D}a \int \mathcal{D}\phi^{xy} (-1)^{\int \phi^{xy}(\partial_{\tau}a_{xy} - \partial_{x}\partial_{y}a_{\tau}) + a_{\tau}a_{xy} + a_{\tau}A_{xy} + a_{xy}A_{\tau}}$$

=
$$\int \mathcal{D}a (-1)^{\int a_{\tau}a_{xy} + a_{\tau}A_{xy} + a_{xy}A_{\tau}} , \qquad (3.54)$$

where we first integrated out the auxiliary field ϕ^{xy} enforcing the flatness condition $\partial_{\tau}a_{xy} - \partial_x\partial_y a_{\tau} = 0$. PSSSB means the ground state degeneracy is not extensive and only part of the subsystem symmetry is broken.

To see this, let us integrate out a_{τ} , a_{xy} in (3.54). Naively, one would attempt to simply integrate out a_{τ} which enforces $a_{xy} = A_{xy}$. Such a naive integration, however, is obstructed due to subtle global constraints originating from the flatness condition for the gauge field. Below, we evaluate the integration carefully by first converting the integration of gauge fields in terms of summation over holonomy variables. Concretely,

$$Z_{\text{PSSSB}} = \sum_{\{\text{conf. of } a\}} (-1)^{\sum_{i=1}^{L_x} W^a_{y;i+\frac{1}{2}}(W^a_{\tau;y,i}+W^a_{\tau,y;i+1}) + \sum_{j=1}^{L_y} W^a_{x;j+\frac{1}{2}}(W^a_{\tau,x;j}+W^a_{\tau,x;j+1})} \times (-1)^{\sum_{i=1}^{L_x} (W^a_{\tau,y;i}W^A_{y;i+\frac{1}{2}}W^a_{y;i+\frac{1}{2}}) + \sum_{j=1}^{L_y} (W^a_{\tau,x;j}W^A_{x;j}+W^A_{\tau,x;j+\frac{1}{2}}W^a_{x;j+\frac{1}{2}})}.$$

Using the gauge fixing condition (3.52) and summing over the spatial holonomy variables of the dynamical gauge field $W_{y;i+\frac{1}{2}}^a, W_{x;j+\frac{1}{2}}^a$ for $i = 2, ..., L_x$ and $j = 1, ..., L_y$, we will get

$$Z_{\text{PSSSB}} = \sum_{\substack{W_{\tau,y;i+\frac{1}{2}}^{a}, W_{\tau,x;j+\frac{1}{2}}^{a} = 0, 1}} \tilde{\delta}_{A,a} (-1)^{\sum_{i=2}^{Lx} W_{\tau,y;i}^{a} W_{y;i}^{A} + \sum_{j=1}^{Ly} W_{\tau,x;j}^{a} W_{x;j}^{A}},$$
(3.56)

where the delta constraint $\tilde{\delta}_{A,a}$ includes

$$W^{A}_{\tau,y;i+\frac{1}{2}} = W^{a}_{\tau,y;2} + W^{a}_{\tau,y;i} + W^{a}_{\tau,y;i+1}, \quad i = 2, ..., L_{x} - 1$$

$$W^{A}_{\tau,y;L_{x}+\frac{1}{2}} = W^{a}_{\tau,y;2} + W^{a}_{\tau,y;L_{x}}, \qquad (3.57)$$

$$W^{A}_{\tau,x;j+\frac{1}{2}} = W^{a}_{\tau,y;2} + W^{a}_{\tau,x;j} + W^{a}_{\tau,x;j+1}, \quad j = 1, ..., L_{y}$$

The first two lines are constraints on the y direction and the last line is on the x direction. Further summing over the delta constraints on y and x directions separately leads to

$$\sum_{i=2}^{L_x} W^A_{\tau,y;i+\frac{1}{2}} = L_x W^a_{\tau,y;2},$$

$$\sum_{j=1}^{L_y} W^A_{\tau,x;j+\frac{1}{2}} = L_y W^a_{\tau,y;2}.$$
(3.58)

This means that the background field A obey global constraints, depending on the parity of L_x and L_y :

- 1. $(L_x, L_y) = (\text{even, even})$: two independent constraints $\sum_{i=2}^{L_x} W^A_{\tau,y;i+\frac{1}{2}} = \sum_{j=1}^{L_y} W^A_{\tau,x;j+\frac{1}{2}} = 0$, leading to four-fold ground state degeneracy.
- 2. $(L_x, L_y) = (\text{even, odd})$: one independent constraint $\sum_{i=2}^{L_x} W^A_{\tau,y;i+\frac{1}{2}} = 0$, leading to two-fold ground state degeneracy.
- 3. $(L_x, L_y) = (\text{odd}, \text{even})$: one independent constraint $\sum_{j=1}^{L_y} W^A_{\tau, x; j+\frac{1}{2}} = 0$, leading to two-fold ground state degeneracy.
- 4. $(L_x, L_y) = (\text{odd}, \text{odd})$: one independent constraint $\sum_{i=2}^{L_x} W^A_{\tau,y;i+\frac{1}{2}} + \sum_{j=1}^{L_y} W^A_{\tau,x;j+\frac{1}{2}} = 0$, leading to two-fold ground state degeneracy.

For all cases, the theory after subsystem KW transformation spontaneously breaks part of the symmetry, and therefore Z_{SSPT} is not invariant under gauging subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry.¹⁸

Because both Z_{triv} and Z_{SSPT} are not compatible with subsystem KW duality symmetry, we can conclude that this symmetry is anomalous. We remark that this anomaly protects the phase transition of the plaquette Ising model with the critical transverse field in (3.29).

4 Discussion and future directions

In this paper, we gave the first example of a subsystem non-invertible symmetry — the subsystem KW duality symmetry — in lattice models in (2 + 1)d, thereby filling in one missing corner of

¹⁸The feature where the gauged strong SSPT has 4 or 2 GSD depending on the parity of (L_x, L_y) can also be seen for the lattice model $H_{\text{SSPT}} = -\sum_{i,j} \sigma_{i,j+1}^z \sigma_{i+1,j}^z \sigma_{i+1,j+1}^z \sigma_{i,j-1}^z \sigma_{i-1,j}^z \sigma_{i-1,j-1}^z$. We thank Trithep Devakul for pointing out this exactly solvable model.

	duality symmetry	subsystem duality symmetry
dimension	(1+1)d	(2+1)d
operation	gauging \mathbb{Z}_2	gauging subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2
fusion rules of operators	(2.6)	(3.19), (3.20), (3.28)
fusion rules of defects	(2.15)	(3.36)
invertible defect mobility	mobile	restricted mobile
duality defect mobility	mobile	mobile along spatial translation
anomaly of duality symmetry	anomalous	anomalous

Table 2: Comparison between the KW duality symmetry in (1 + 1)d and the subsystem KW duality symmetry in (2 + 1)d.

generalized symmetries in Tab. 1. The discussion of subsystem duality symmetry in (2 + 1)d is a direct generalization of the ordinary duality symmetry in (1 + 1)d. We listed the comparison in Tab. 2. Here we comment on several future directions.

To have a generic understanding of subsystem non-invertible symmetry, one can employ similar analysis to models with general abelian subsystem symmetry [83, 175] or theories with global dipole symmetry [87,91]. Another interesting direction is to find the last missing corner in Tab. 1, a higher subsystem non-invertible symmetry, by studying duality operators and defects from gauging higher-form subsystem symmetry [85, 90, 142–144, 146, 148, 176–178].

As a duality transformation, the subsystem KW transformation provides a new method to study SSPT phases. For example, we can perform a parallel analysis for (2 + 1)d many-body systems with $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ subsystem symmetries where subsystem KW transformation \mathcal{N}^{sub} amounts to gauging the $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ subsystem symmetries. Moreover, there exists a unitary decorated domain wall (DW) transformation U_{DW} relating $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ strong SSPT phase and trivially gapped phase ¹⁹ in (2+1)d [79,179]. Similar to the cases in (1+1)d [154,180,181], one can define the subsystem Kennedy-Tasaki (KT) transformation

$$\mathcal{N}_{\mathrm{KT}} = \mathcal{N}^{\mathrm{sub}} U_{\mathrm{DW}} \mathcal{N}^{\mathrm{sub}} \,, \tag{4.1}$$

which relates the SSPT to SSSB phase, while leaving the trivial gapped phase invariant. See Fig. 9 for a summary. The KT duality transformation thus offers a hidden symmetry-breaking interpretation for strong SSPT phase [182–184]. It is interesting to explore the explicit expression of this duality transformation and its applications to gapped and gapless SSPTs [181, 185–188].

In [89], we discussed the subsystem Jordan-Wigner (JW) transformation. It is known [169, 189, 190] that in (1+1)d, the JW transformation, the KW transformation, and stacking a fermionic

¹⁹Here we consider the product state, which excludes the weak SSPT phase.



Figure 9: Three gapped phases with $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ subsystem symmetry and the dualities between them. Note that the KW duality transformation in the figure applies to the entire subsystem $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ symmetry.

SPT, i.e. the Arf invariant, satisfy the following relation

$$(Stack fermionic SPT) \cdot JW = JW \cdot KW.$$
(4.2)

In (2 + 1)d systems with subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetries, besides the subsystem JW transformation, subsystem KW transformation, and stacking a subsystem fermionic SPT (i.e. the subsystem Arf invariant in [89, Sec. 4]), we can also stack a bosonic subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 strong and weak SPT [158, 161, 191, 192], see also the discussion in Sec. 3.5. Hence these four operators generate a more complicated diagram. It would be interesting to explore the relation between them in the future.

Finally, it has been realized recently [164, 193] that gaugings and measurements can be implemented in the quantum circuits to prepare interesting topological states, and has potential application in fault-tolerant quantum computation. It is also widely appreciated [194–199] that quantum codes with subsystem symmetries behave better in protecting quantum information from errors. It would be interesting to investigate whether the subsystem KW duality operators can be implemented in the quantum circuits and to search for possible applications in quantum computation.

Acknowledgements

W.C. thanks Kantaro Ohmori for his wonderful lectures on non-invertible symmetry in the Kavli Winter Asian School in IBS, Korea and his insights during the discussion. We also thank Trithep Devakul, Jie Wang, Satoshi Yamaguchi, Shi Chen, and Han Yan for helpful discussions, and Masaki Oshikawa for the collaboration on a related work [154] and discussions. This work is partially supported by World Premier International Research Center Initiative (WPI) Initiative, MEXT, Japan at Kavli IPMU, the University of Tokyo. W.C. and L.L. are supported by the Global Science Graduate Course (GSGC) program of the University of Tokyo. W.C. also acknowledges support from JSPS KAKENHI grant numbers JP19H05810, JP22J21553 and JP22KJ1072. M.Y. is also supported in part by the JSPS Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (19K03820, 19H00689, 20H05860, 23H01168), and by JST, Japan (PRESTO Grant No. JPMJPR225A, Moonshot R&D Grant No. JPMJMS2061). The authors of this paper were ordered alphabetically.

A Gauging subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry

The subsystem KW transformation gauges a subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry. We will review the technical details [89] in this appendix.

Turing on background gauge fields: To couple the theory to a background gauge field, consider a spacetime cubic lattice with T sites along the time direction and $L_x \times L_y$ sites along the space direction. The background gauge fields $B_{i,j,k+\frac{1}{2}}^{\tau}, B_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2},k}^{xy} \in \{0,1\}$ are defined on the time link and the spatial plaquette respectively, see Fig.10.



Figure 10: Background gauge field for subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry on lattice.

The gauge invariant holonomy variables $W^B_{\tau;i,j}, W^B_{x;j+\frac{1}{2}}, W^B_{y;i+\frac{1}{2}} \in \{0,1\}$ are defined by sum-

ming gauge fields over particular spacetime circles.

$$W^{B}_{\tau;i,j} = \sum_{k=1}^{I} B^{\tau}_{i,j,k+\frac{1}{2}} = W^{B}_{\tau,x,j} + W^{B}_{\tau,y,i},$$

$$W^{B}_{x;j+\frac{1}{2}} = \sum_{i=1}^{L_{x}} B^{xy}_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2},k} = \mathfrak{t}^{x}_{j+\frac{1}{2}},$$

$$W^{B}_{y;i+\frac{1}{2}} = \sum_{j=1}^{L_{y}} B^{xy}_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2},k} = \mathfrak{t}^{y}_{i+\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(A.1)

The number of holonomy variables grows with system size. Because the $L_x \times L_y$ variables $W^B_{\tau,i,j}$ are highly reducible, instead we use $W^B_{\tau,x;j}$, $W^B_{\tau,y,i} \in \{0,1\}$, detecting the insertion of symmetry operator $(U^x_j)^{W^B_{\tau,x;j}}$ and $(U^y_i)^{W^B_{\tau,y;i}}$. The constraint on the symmetry generator $\prod_{i=1}^{L_x} U^y_i \prod_{j=1}^{L_y} U^x_j = 1$ induces the redundancy

$$W^B_{\tau,x;j} \to W^B_{\tau,x;j} + 1, \quad W^B_{\tau,y;i} \to W^B_{\tau,y;i} + 1,$$
 (A.2)

which is obvious from (A.1). Along the spatial cycle, the holonomy variables $W_{x;j+\frac{1}{2}}^B, W_{y;i+\frac{1}{2}}^B$ detect the boundary conditions with the following constraint

$$\sum_{i=1}^{L_x} W^B_{y;i+\frac{1}{2}} = \sum_{j=1}^{L_y} W^B_{x;j+\frac{1}{2}} = t^{xy} .$$
(A.3)

In summary, there are $L_x + L_y - 1$ independent holonomy variables along the time and space directions separately. The partition function with background fields is

$$Z(W^{B}_{\tau,x;j}, W^{B}_{\tau,y;i}, W^{B}_{x;j+\frac{1}{2}}, W^{B}_{y;i+\frac{1}{2}}) := \operatorname{Tr}_{\left\{W^{B}_{x;j+\frac{1}{2}}, W^{B}_{y;i+\frac{1}{2}}\right\}} \left(\prod_{j=1}^{L_{y}} (U^{x}_{j})^{W^{B}_{t,x;j}}\right) \left(\prod_{i=1}^{L_{x}} (U^{y}_{i})^{W^{B}_{t,y;i}}\right) e^{-\beta H}.$$
(A.4)

Gauging subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 **symmetry:** Consider a theory X with a non-anomalous subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry on the spacetime 3-torus T^3 . After gauging, we obtain a theory $X/\mathbb{Z}_2^{\text{sub}}$ living on the dual lattice with a new subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry. According to the new subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry, the Hilbert space is divided into symmetry and twist sectors labeled by $\hat{\mathfrak{u}} := \{\widehat{u}_{j+\frac{1}{2}}^x, \widehat{u}_{i+\frac{1}{2}}^y\}$. Equivalently, we can couple the new theory with a new background subsystem \mathbb{Z}_2 gauge field.

The gauging procedure contains two steps: first attach to the partition function a phase whose exponent is the cup product of the gauge fields in X and $X/\mathbb{Z}_2^{\text{sub}}$ and then sum over all distinct gauge field configurations in the theory X to promote its gauge field into a dynamical field. In terms of gauging ordinary \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry in (1 + 1)d, the background for the quantum symmetry couples to the dynamical gauge field via the standard coupling

$$\int b_{\tau} B_x + b_x B_{\tau} = W_{\tau}^B W_x^b + W_x^B W_{\tau}^b.$$
 (A.5)

(A.5) can be derived using the flatness of gauge fields B, b. We show it on lattice for later convenience of the generalization in subsystem symmetry. After discretization on the spacetime lattice with $L_x \times T$ sites, the flatness means that the gauge field B is closed

$$B_{i,j+\frac{1}{2}}^{\tau} + B_{i+1,j+\frac{1}{2}}^{\tau} + B_{i+\frac{1}{2},j}^{x} + B_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+1}^{x} = 0, \qquad (A.6)$$

equivalent to the statement that the gauge field B is exact

$$B_{i+\frac{1}{2},j}^{x} = B_{i,j} + B_{i+1,j}, \quad B_{i,j+\frac{1}{2}}^{\tau} = B_{i,j} + B_{i,j+1},$$
(A.7)

where $B_{i,j} \in \{0, 1\}$ is the potential field of the gauge field. By definition, the holonomy variables measure the twist boundary of the potential field

$$W_{\tau}^{B} = \sum_{j=1}^{T} B_{i,j+\frac{1}{2}}^{\tau} = B_{i,1} + B_{i,T+1},$$

$$W_{x}^{B} = \sum_{i=1}^{L_{x}} B_{i+\frac{1}{2},j}^{x} = B_{1,j} + B_{L_{x}+1,j}.$$
(A.8)

(A.5) then follows

$$\int B_{\tau} b_{x} + B_{x} b_{\tau} = \sum_{i=1}^{L_{x}} \sum_{j=1}^{T} B_{i,j+\frac{1}{2}}^{\tau} b_{i,j+\frac{1}{2}}^{x} + B_{i+\frac{1}{2},j}^{x} b_{i+\frac{1}{2},j}^{\tau}$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{L_{x}} \sum_{j=1}^{T} (B_{i,j} + B_{i,j+1}) b_{i,j+\frac{1}{2}}^{x} + (B_{i,j} + B_{i+1,j}) b_{i+\frac{1}{2},j}^{\tau}$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{L_{x}} \sum_{j=1}^{T} B_{i,j} (b_{i,j-\frac{1}{2}}^{x} + b_{i,j+\frac{1}{2}}^{x} + b_{i-\frac{1}{2},j}^{\tau} + b_{i+\frac{1}{2},j}^{\tau})$$

$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{L_{x}} b_{i,T+\frac{1}{2}}^{x} (B_{i,1} + B_{i,L_{x}+1}) + \sum_{j=1}^{T} b_{L_{x}+\frac{1}{2},j}^{\tau} (B_{1,j} + B_{T+1,j})$$

$$= W_{\tau}^{B} W_{x}^{b} + W_{x}^{B} W_{\tau}^{b}.$$
(A.9)

Similarly, we can regularize the coupling to subsystem symmetry gauge fields. Consider the spacetime cub lattice with $L_x \times L_y \times T$ sites. The flatness means that the gauge field B is closed

$$B_{i,j,k+\frac{1}{2}}^{\tau} + B_{i+1,j,k+\frac{1}{2}}^{\tau} + B_{i,j+1,k+\frac{1}{2}}^{\tau} + B_{i+1,j+1,k+\frac{1}{2}}^{\tau} + B_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2},k}^{xy} + B_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2},k+1}^{xy} = 0, \quad (A.10)$$

equivalent to the exactness

$$B_{i,j,k+\frac{1}{2}}^{\tau} = B_{i,j,k} + B_{i,j,k+1}$$

$$B_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2},k}^{xy} = B_{i,j,k} + B_{i+1,j,k} + B_{i,j+1,k} + B_{i+1,j+1,k},$$
(A.11)

where $B_{i,j,k} \in \{0, 1\}$ is the potential field for the subsystem gauge field. The holonomy variables measure the twist boundary of the potential field

$$W^{B}_{\tau,x,j} + W^{B}_{\tau,y,i} = W^{B}_{\tau,i,j} = \sum_{k=1}^{T} B^{\tau}_{i,j,k+\frac{1}{2}} = B_{i,j,1} + B_{i,j,T+1}$$

$$W^{B}_{x,j+\frac{1}{2}} = \sum_{i=1}^{L_{x}} B^{xy}_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2},k} = B_{1,j,k} + B_{L_{x}+1,j,k} + B_{1,j+1,k} + B_{L_{x}+1,j+1,k}$$

$$W^{B}_{y,i+\frac{1}{2}} = \sum_{j=1}^{L_{y}} B^{xy}_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2},k} = B_{i,1,k} + B_{i,L_{y}+1,k} + B_{i+1,1,k} + B_{i+1,L_{y}+1,k}$$
(A.12)

The standard regularization of the coupling to subsystem gauge field is

$$\int B_{\tau} b_{xy} + B_{xy} b_{\tau} = \sum_{i=1}^{L_x} \sum_{j=1}^{L_y} \sum_{k=1}^T B_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2},k}^{xy} b_{i+\frac{1}{2},j+\frac{1}{2},k}^{\tau} + B_{i,j,k+\frac{1}{2}}^{\tau} b_{i,j,k+\frac{1}{2}}^{xy}.$$
(A.13)

After a lengthy but straightforward derivation, we obtain

$$\int b_{\tau} B_{xy} + b_{xy} B_{\tau} = \sum_{i=1}^{L_x} (W^b_{\tau,y;i+\frac{1}{2}} W^B_{y;i+\frac{1}{2}} + W^B_{\tau,y;i} W^b_{y;i}) + \sum_{j=1}^{L_y} (W^b_{\tau,x;j+\frac{1}{2}} W^B_{x;j+\frac{1}{2}} + W^B_{\tau,x;j} W^b_{x;j}).$$
(A.14)

Following the above procedure, the partition function after gauging is

$$Z_{X/\mathbb{Z}_{2}^{\text{sub}}}(W_{\tau,x;j}^{B}, W_{\tau,y;i}^{B}, W_{x;j+\frac{1}{2}}^{B}, W_{y;i+\frac{1}{2}}^{B})$$

$$= \frac{1}{2^{2(L_{x}+L_{y}-1)}} \sum_{\substack{W_{\tau,x;j+\frac{1}{2}}^{b}, W_{\tau,y;i+\frac{1}{2}}^{b}, W_{x;j}^{b}, W_{y;i}^{b}=0,1}} Z_{X}(W_{\tau,x;j+\frac{1}{2}}^{b}, W_{\tau,y;i+\frac{1}{2}}^{b}, W_{x;j}^{b}, W_{y;i}^{b})$$

$$\times (-1)^{\sum_{i=1}^{L_{x}}(W_{\tau,y;i+\frac{1}{2}}^{b}, W_{y;i+\frac{1}{2}}^{B}+W_{\tau,y;i}^{B}, W_{y;i}^{b}) + \sum_{j=1}^{L_{y}}(W_{\tau,x;j+\frac{1}{2}}^{b}, W_{x;j+\frac{1}{2}}^{B}+W_{\tau,x;j}^{B}, W_{x;j}^{b})}.$$
(A.15)

References

- [1] D. Gaiotto, A. Kapustin, N. Seiberg, and B. Willett, "Generalized Global Symmetries," *JHEP* 02 (2015) 172, arXiv:1412.5148 [hep-th].
- [2] C. Cordova, T. T. Dumitrescu, K. Intriligator, and S.-H. Shao, "Snowmass White Paper: Generalized Symmetries in Quantum Field Theory and Beyond," in *Snowmass 2021*. 5, 2022. arXiv:2205.09545 [hep-th].
- [3] A. Kapustin and N. Seiberg, "Coupling a QFT to a TQFT and Duality," *JHEP* 04 (2014) 001, arXiv:1401.0740 [hep-th].

- [4] P.-S. Hsin and N. Seiberg, "Level/rank Duality and Chern-Simons-Matter Theories," JHEP 09 (2016) 095, arXiv:1607.07457 [hep-th].
- [5] O. Aharony, F. Benini, P.-S. Hsin, and N. Seiberg, "Chern-Simons-matter dualities with SO and USp gauge groups," JHEP 02 (2017) 072, arXiv:1611.07874 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [6] D. Gaiotto, A. Kapustin, Z. Komargodski, and N. Seiberg, "Theta, Time Reversal, and Temperature," *JHEP* 05 (2017) 091, arXiv:1703.00501 [hep-th].
- [7] F. Benini, P.-S. Hsin, and N. Seiberg, "Comments on global symmetries, anomalies, and duality in (2 + 1)d," *JHEP* 04 (2017) 135, arXiv:1702.07035
 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [8] Z. Komargodski and N. Seiberg, "A symmetry breaking scenario for QCD₃," JHEP 01 (2018) 109, arXiv:1706.08755 [hep-th].
- [9] D. S. Freed, Z. Komargodski, and N. Seiberg, "The Sum Over Topological Sectors and θ in the 2+1-Dimensional $\mathbb{CP}^1 \sigma$ -Model," *Commun. Math. Phys.* **362** no. 1, (2018) 167–183, arXiv:1707.05448 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [10] J. Gomis, Z. Komargodski, and N. Seiberg, "Phases Of Adjoint QCD₃ And Dualities," *SciPost Phys.* 5 no. 1, (2018) 007, arXiv:1710.03258 [hep-th].
- [11] C. Cordova, P.-S. Hsin, and N. Seiberg, "Global Symmetries, Counterterms, and Duality in Chern-Simons Matter Theories with Orthogonal Gauge Groups," *SciPost Phys.* 4 no. 4, (2018) 021, arXiv:1711.10008 [hep-th].
- [12] C. Córdova, T. T. Dumitrescu, and K. Intriligator, "Exploring 2-Group Global Symmetries," JHEP 02 (2019) 184, arXiv:1802.04790 [hep-th].
- [13] F. Benini, C. Córdova, and P.-S. Hsin, "On 2-Group Global Symmetries and their Anomalies," JHEP 03 (2019) 118, arXiv:1803.09336 [hep-th].
- [14] P.-S. Hsin, H. T. Lam, and N. Seiberg, "Comments on One-Form Global Symmetries and Their Gauging in 3d and 4d," *SciPost Phys.* 6 no. 3, (2019) 039, arXiv:1812.04716 [hep-th].
- [15] Z. Wan and J. Wang, "Higher anomalies, higher symmetries, and cobordisms I: classification of higher-symmetry-protected topological states and their boundary fermionic/bosonic anomalies via a generalized cobordism theory," *Ann. Math. Sci. Appl.* 4 no. 2, (2019) 107–311, arXiv:1812.11967 [hep-th].
- [16] Z. Wan, J. Wang, and Y. Zheng, "New higher anomalies, SU(N) Yang-Mills gauge theory and CP^{N-1} sigma model," Annals Phys. 414 (2020) 168074, arXiv:1812.11968 [hep-th].

- [17] Z. Wan, J. Wang, and Y. Zheng, "Quantum 4d Yang-Mills Theory and Time-Reversal Symmetric 5d Higher-Gauge Topological Field Theory," *Phys. Rev. D* 100 no. 8, (2019) 085012, arXiv:1904.00994 [hep-th].
- [18] P.-S. Hsin and S.-H. Shao, "Lorentz Symmetry Fractionalization and Dualities in (2+1)d," *SciPost Phys.* 8 (2020) 018, arXiv:1909.07383 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [19] C. Córdova and K. Ohmori, "Anomaly Obstructions to Symmetry Preserving Gapped Phases," arXiv:1910.04962 [hep-th].
- [20] J. Wang, Y.-Z. You, and Y. Zheng, "Gauge enhanced quantum criticality and time reversal deconfined domain wall: SU(2) Yang-Mills dynamics with topological terms," *Phys. Rev. Res.* 2 no. 1, (2020) 013189, arXiv:1910.14664 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [21] Z. Wan, J. Wang, and Y. Zheng, "Higher anomalies, higher symmetries, and cobordisms II: Lorentz symmetry extension and enriched bosonic / fermionic quantum gauge theory," *Ann. Math. Sci. Appl.* 05 no. 2, (2020) 171–257, arXiv:1912.13504 [hep-th].
- [22] Z. Wan and J. Wang, "Higher anomalies, higher symmetries, and cobordisms III: QCD matter phases anew," *Nucl. Phys. B* 957 (2020) 115016, arXiv:1912.13514 [hep-th].
- [23] D. R. Morrison, S. Schafer-Nameki, and B. Willett, "Higher-Form Symmetries in 5d," JHEP 09 (2020) 024, arXiv:2005.12296 [hep-th].
- [24] L. Bhardwaj and S. Schäfer-Nameki, "Higher-form symmetries of 6d and 5d theories," JHEP 02 (2021) 159, arXiv:2008.09600 [hep-th].
- [25] L. Bhardwaj, M. Hubner, and S. Schafer-Nameki, "1-form Symmetries of 4d N=2 Class S Theories," *SciPost Phys.* 11 (2021) 096, arXiv:2102.01693 [hep-th].
- [26] P.-S. Hsin, W. Ji, and C.-M. Jian, "Exotic invertible phases with higher-group symmetries," *SciPost Phys.* 12 no. 2, (2022) 052, arXiv:2105.09454 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [27] F. Apruzzi, L. Bhardwaj, D. S. W. Gould, and S. Schafer-Nameki, "2-Group symmetries and their classification in 6d," *SciPost Phys.* 12 no. 3, (2022) 098, arXiv:2110.14647 [hep-th].
- [28] M. M. Anber and E. Poppitz, "Nonperturbative effects in the Standard Model with gauged 1-form symmetry," *JHEP* 12 (2021) 055, arXiv:2110.02981 [hep-th].
- [29] F. Apruzzi, F. Bonetti, I. n. G. Etxebarria, S. S. Hosseini, and S. Schafer-Nameki, "Symmetry TFTs from String Theory," arXiv:2112.02092 [hep-th].
- [30] X. Chen, A. Dua, P.-S. Hsin, C.-M. Jian, W. Shirley, and C. Xu, "Loops in 4+1d Topological Phases," arXiv:2112.02137 [cond-mat.str-el].

- [31] E. Beratto, N. Mekareeya, and M. Sacchi, "Zero-form and one-form symmetries of the ABJ and related theories," *JHEP* 04 (2022) 126, arXiv:2112.09531 [hep-th].
- [32] L. Bhardwaj, S. Giacomelli, M. Hübner, and S. Schäfer-Nameki, "Relative defects in relative theories: Trapped higher-form symmetries and irregular punctures in class S," *SciPost Phys.* 13 no. 4, (2022) 101, arXiv:2201.00018 [hep-th].
- [33] P. B. Genolini and L. Tizzano, "Comments on Global Symmetries and Anomalies of 5d SCFTs," arXiv:2201.02190 [hep-th].
- [34] M. Del Zotto, J. J. Heckman, S. N. Meynet, R. Moscrop, and H. Y. Zhang, "Higher symmetries of 5D orbifold SCFTs," *Phys. Rev. D* 106 no. 4, (2022) 046010, arXiv:2201.08372 [hep-th].
- [35] M. Del Zotto, I. n. García Etxebarria, and S. Schafer-Nameki, "2-Group Symmetries and M-Theory," *SciPost Phys.* 13 (2022) 105, arXiv:2203.10097 [hep-th].
- [36] L. Bhardwaj, M. Bullimore, A. E. V. Ferrari, and S. Schafer-Nameki, "Anomalies of Generalized Symmetries from Solitonic Defects," arXiv:2205.15330 [hep-th].
- [37] A. Cherman, T. Jacobson, and M. Neuzil, "1-form symmetry versus large N QCD," JHEP 02 (2023) 192, arXiv: 2209.00027 [hep-th].
- [38] M. Barkeshli, Y.-A. Chen, P.-S. Hsin, and R. Kobayashi, "Higher-group symmetry in finite gauge theory and stabilizer codes," arXiv:2211.11764 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [39] C. Cordova and S. Koren, "Higher Flavor Symmetries in the Standard Model," arXiv:2212.13193 [hep-ph].
- [40] L. Bhardwaj, M. Bullimore, A. E. V. Ferrari, and S. Schafer-Nameki, "Generalized Symmetries and Anomalies of 3d N=4 SCFTs," arXiv:2301.02249 [hep-th].
- [41] S. D. Pace and X.-G. Wen, "Exact emergent higher symmetries in bosonic lattice models," arXiv:2301.05261 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [42] L. Bhardwaj and S. Schafer-Nameki, "Generalized Charges, Part I: Invertible Symmetries and Higher Representations," arXiv:2304.02660 [hep-th].
- [43] Y.-N. Wang and Y. Zhang, "Fermionic Higher-form Symmetries," arXiv:2303.12633 [hep-th].
- [44] J. Davighi, N. Lohitsiri, and A. Debray, "Toric 2-group anomalies via cobordism," arXiv:2302.12853 [hep-th].
- [45] J. Wang, Z. Wan, and Y.-Z. You, "Cobordism and deformation class of the standard model," *Phys. Rev. D* 106 no. 4, (2022) L041701, arXiv:2112.14765 [hep-th].

- [46] C. D. Batista and Z. Nussinov, "Generalized Elitzur's theorem and dimensional reduction," *Phys. Rev. B* 72 (2005) 045137, arXiv:cond-mat/0410599.
- [47] Z. Nussinov and G. Ortiz, "Sufficient symmetry conditions for Topological Quantum Order," *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.* **106** (2009) 16944–16949, arXiv:cond-mat/0605316.
- [48] Z. Nussinov and G. Ortiz, "A symmetry principle for topological quantum order," Annals Phys. 324 (2009) 977–1057, arXiv:cond-mat/0702377.
- [49] A. Kapustin and R. Thorngren, "Higher symmetry and gapped phases of gauge theories," arXiv:1309.4721 [hep-th].
- [50] J. Frohlich, J. Fuchs, I. Runkel, and C. Schweigert, "Kramers-Wannier duality from conformal defects," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 93 (2004) 070601, arXiv:cond-mat/0404051.
- [51] J. Frohlich, J. Fuchs, I. Runkel, and C. Schweigert, "Duality and defects in rational conformal field theory," *Nucl. Phys. B* 763 (2007) 354–430, arXiv:hep-th/0607247.
- [52] D. Aasen, R. S. K. Mong, and P. Fendley, "Topological Defects on the Lattice I: The Ising model," J. Phys. A 49 no. 35, (2016) 354001, arXiv:1601.07185 [cond-mat.stat-mech].
- [53] L. Bhardwaj and Y. Tachikawa, "On finite symmetries and their gauging in two dimensions," JHEP 03 (2018) 189, arXiv:1704.02330 [hep-th].
- [54] Y. Tachikawa, "On gauging finite subgroups," *SciPost Phys.* 8 no. 1, (2020) 015, arXiv:1712.09542 [hep-th].
- [55] C.-M. Chang, Y.-H. Lin, S.-H. Shao, Y. Wang, and X. Yin, "Topological Defect Lines and Renormalization Group Flows in Two Dimensions," *JHEP* 01 (2019) 026, arXiv:1802.04445 [hep-th].
- [56] R. Thorngren and Y. Wang, "Fusion Category Symmetry I: Anomaly In-Flow and Gapped Phases," arXiv:1912.02817 [hep-th].
- [57] W. Ji and X.-G. Wen, "Categorical symmetry and noninvertible anomaly in symmetry-breaking and topological phase transitions," *Phys. Rev. Res.* 2 no. 3, (2020) 033417, arXiv:1912.13492 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [58] L. Kong, T. Lan, X.-G. Wen, Z.-H. Zhang, and H. Zheng, "Algebraic higher symmetry and categorical symmetry – a holographic and entanglement view of symmetry," *Phys. Rev. Res.* 2 no. 4, (2020) 043086, arXiv:2005.14178 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [59] R. Thorngren and Y. Wang, "Fusion Category Symmetry II: Categoriosities at c = 1 and Beyond," arXiv:2106.12577 [hep-th].
- [60] Z. Komargodski, K. Ohmori, K. Roumpedakis, and S. Seifnashri, "Symmetries and strings of adjoint QCD₂," *JHEP* 03 (2021) 103, arXiv:2008.07567 [hep-th].

- [61] D. Aasen, P. Fendley, and R. S. K. Mong, "Topological Defects on the Lattice: Dualities and Degeneracies," arXiv:2008.08598 [cond-mat.stat-mech].
- [62] T.-C. Huang, Y.-H. Lin, and S. Seifnashri, "Construction of two-dimensional topological field theories with non-invertible symmetries," *JHEP* 12 (2021) 028, arXiv:2110.02958 [hep-th].
- [63] T.-C. Huang, Y.-H. Lin, K. Ohmori, Y. Tachikawa, and M. Tezuka, "Numerical Evidence for a Haagerup Conformal Field Theory," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **128** no. 23, (2022) 231603, arXiv:2110.03008 [cond-mat.stat-mech].
- [64] R. Vanhove, L. Lootens, M. Van Damme, R. Wolf, T. J. Osborne, J. Haegeman, and F. Verstraete, "Critical Lattice Model for a Haagerup Conformal Field Theory," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 128 no. 23, (2022) 231602, arXiv:2110.03532 [cond-mat.stat-mech].
- [65] K. Inamura, "On lattice models of gapped phases with fusion category symmetries," JHEP 03 (2022) 036, arXiv:2110.12882 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [66] S. Gukov, D. Pei, C. Reid, and A. Shehper, "Symmetries of 2d TQFTs and Equivariant Verlinde Formulae for General Groups," arXiv:2111.08032 [hep-th].
- [67] I. M. Burbano, J. Kulp, and J. Neuser, "Duality defects in E₈," JHEP 10 (2022) 186, arXiv:2112.14323 [hep-th].
- [68] A. Chatterjee and X.-G. Wen, "Algebra of local symmetric operators and braided fusion n-category – symmetry is a shadow of topological order," arXiv:2203.03596 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [69] H. Moradi, S. F. Moosavian, and A. Tiwari, "Topological Holography: Towards a Unification of Landau and Beyond-Landau Physics," arXiv:2207.10712 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [70] C.-M. Chang, J. Chen, and F. Xu, "Topological Defect Lines in Two Dimensional Fermionic CFTs," arXiv:2208.02757 [hep-th].
- [71] Y.-H. Lin, M. Okada, S. Seifnashri, and Y. Tachikawa, "Asymptotic density of states in 2d CFTs with non-invertible symmetries," *JHEP* 03 (2023) 094, arXiv:2208.05495 [hep-th].
- [72] D.-C. Lu and Z. Sun, "On Triality Defects in 2d CFT," arXiv:2208.06077 [hep-th].
- [73] Y.-H. Lin and S.-H. Shao, "Bootstrapping Non-invertible Symmetries," arXiv:2302.13900 [hep-th].
- [74] C. Zhang and C. Córdova, "Anomalies of (1+1)D categorical symmetries," arXiv:2304.01262 [cond-mat.str-el].

- [75] A. Paramekanti, L. Balents, and M. P. Fisher, "Ring exchange, the exciton Bose liquid, and bosonization in two dimensions," *Phys. Rev. B* 66 no. 5, (Aug., 2002) 054526, arXiv:cond-mat/0203171 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [76] W. Shirley, K. Slagle, and X. Chen, "Foliated fracton order from gauging subsystem symmetries," *SciPost Phys.* 6 no. 4, (2019) 041, arXiv:1806.08679 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [77] H. Yan, "Hyperbolic fracton model, subsystem symmetry, and holography," *Phys. Rev. B* 99 no. 15, (2019) 155126, arXiv:1807.05942 [hep-th].
- [78] M. Pretko, "The Fracton Gauge Principle," *Phys. Rev. B* 98 no. 11, (2018) 115134, arXiv:1807.11479 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [79] Y. You, T. Devakul, F. J. Burnell, and S. L. Sondhi, "Subsystem symmetry protected topological order," *Phys. Rev. B* 98 (Jul, 2018) 035112. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevB.98.035112.
- [80] J. P. Ibieta-Jimenez, L. N. Q. Xavier, M. Petrucci, and P. Teotonio-Sobrinho, "Fractonlike phases from subsystem symmetries," *Phys. Rev. B* 102 no. 4, (2020) 045104, arXiv:1908.07601 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [81] N. Seiberg, "Field Theories With a Vector Global Symmetry," SciPost Phys. 8 no. 4, (2020) 050, arXiv:1909.10544 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [82] A. Gromov, "Towards classification of fracton phases: The multipole algebra," *Phys. Rev.* X 9 (Aug, 2019) 031035. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevX.9.031035.
- [83] N. Seiberg and S.-H. Shao, "Exotic Symmetries, Duality, and Fractons in 2+1-Dimensional Quantum Field Theory," *SciPost Phys.* 10 no. 2, (2021) 027, arXiv:2003.10466 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [84] J. Distler, A. Karch, and A. Raz, "Spontaneously broken subsystem symmetries," JHEP 03 (2022) 016, arXiv:2110.12611 [hep-th].
- [85] S. Yamaguchi, "Gapless edge modes in (4+1)-dimensional topologically massive tensor gauge theory and anomaly inflow for subsystem symmetry," *PTEP* 2022 no. 3, (2022) 033B08, arXiv:2110.12861 [hep-th].
- [86] C. Stahl, E. Lake, and R. Nandkishore, "Spontaneous breaking of multipole symmetries," *Phys. Rev. B* 105 no. 15, (2022) 155107, arXiv:2111.08041 [cond-mat.stat-mech].
- [87] P. Gorantla, H. T. Lam, N. Seiberg, and S.-H. Shao, "Global dipole symmetry, compact Lifshitz theory, tensor gauge theory, and fractons," *Phys. Rev. B* 106 no. 4, (2022) 045112, arXiv:2201.10589 [cond-mat.str-el].

- [88] H. Katsura and Y. Nakayama, "Spontaneously broken supersymmetric fracton phases with fermionic subsystem symmetries," arXiv:2204.01924 [hep-th].
- [89] W. Cao, M. Yamazaki, and Y. Zheng, "Boson-fermion duality with subsystem symmetry," *Phys. Rev. B* 106 no. 7, (2022) 075150, arXiv:2206.02727 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [90] S. Yamaguchi, "SL (2, ℤ) action on quantum field theories with U(1) subsystem symmetry," *PTEP* 2023 no. 2, (2023) 023B06, arXiv:2208.13193 [hep-th].
- [91] P. Gorantla, H. T. Lam, N. Seiberg, and S.-H. Shao, "2+1d Compact Lifshitz Theory, Tensor Gauge Theory, and Fractons," arXiv:2209.10030 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [92] E. Cobanera, G. Ortiz, and Z. Nussinov, "The Bond-Algebraic Approach to Dualities," *Adv. Phys.* **60** (2011) 679–798, arXiv:1103.2776 [cond-mat.stat-mech].
- [93] Z. Nussinov, G. Ortiz, and E. Cobanera, "Effective and exact holographies from symmetries and dualities," *Annals Phys.* 327 (2012) 2491–2521, arXiv:1110.2179 [cond-mat.stat-mech].
- [94] E. Cobanera, G. Ortiz, and Z. Nussinov, "Holographic symmetries and generalized order parameters for topological matter," *Phys. Rev. B* 87 no. 4, (2013) 041105, arXiv:1211.0564 [cond-mat.stat-mech].
- [95] Z. Weinstein, E. Cobanera, G. Ortiz, and Z. Nussinov, "Absence of finite temperature phase transitions in the X-Cube model and its \mathbb{Z}_p generalization," *Annals Phys.* **412** (2020) 168018, arXiv:1812.04561 [cond-mat.stat-mech].
- [96] Z. Weinstein, G. Ortiz, and Z. Nussinov, "Universality Classes of Stabilizer Code Hamiltonians," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **123** no. 23, (2019) 230503, arXiv:1907.04180 [quant-ph].
- [97] S. Moudgalya and O. I. Motrunich, "Hilbert Space Fragmentation and Commutant Algebras," *Phys. Rev. X* 12 (2022) 011050, arXiv:2108.10324 [cond-mat.stat-mech].
- [98] S. Moudgalya and O. I. Motrunich, "From Symmetries to Commutant Algebras in Standard Hamiltonians," arXiv:2209.03370 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [99] S. Moudgalya and O. I. Motrunich, "Exhaustive Characterization of Quantum Many-Body Scars using Commutant Algebras," arXiv:2209.03377 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [100] S. Moudgalya and O. I. Motrunich, "Numerical Methods for Detecting Symmetries and Commutant Algebras," arXiv:2302.03028 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [101] W. Ji and X.-G. Wen, "Non-invertible anomalies and mapping-class-group transformation of anomalous partition functions," *Phys. Rev. Research.* 1 (2019) 033054, arXiv:1905.13279 [cond-mat.str-el].

- [102] M. Nguyen, Y. Tanizaki, and M. Ünsal, "Semi-Abelian gauge theories, non-invertible symmetries, and string tensions beyond N-ality," JHEP 03 (2021) 238, arXiv:2101.02227 [hep-th].
- [103] M. Nguyen, Y. Tanizaki, and M. Ünsal, "Noninvertible 1-form symmetry and Casimir scaling in 2D Yang-Mills theory," *Phys. Rev. D* 104 no. 6, (2021) 065003, arXiv:2104.01824 [hep-th].
- [104] W. Ji and X.-G. Wen, "A unified view on symmetry, anomalous symmetry and non-invertible gravitational anomaly," arXiv:2106.02069 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [105] M. Koide, Y. Nagoya, and S. Yamaguchi, "Non-invertible topological defects in 4-dimensional \mathbb{Z}_2 pure lattice gauge theory," arXiv:2109.05992 [hep-th].
- [106] Y. Choi, C. Cordova, P.-S. Hsin, H. T. Lam, and S.-H. Shao, "Non-Invertible Duality Defects in 3+1 Dimensions," arXiv:2111.01139 [hep-th].
- [107] J. Kaidi, K. Ohmori, and Y. Zheng, "Kramers-Wannier-like Duality Defects in (3+1)D Gauge Theories," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **128** no. 11, (2022) 111601, arXiv:2111.01141 [hep-th].
- [108] J. Wang and Y.-Z. You, "Gauge Enhanced Quantum Criticality Between Grand Unifications: Categorical Higher Symmetry Retraction," arXiv:2111.10369 [hep-th].
- [109] M. Yu, "Gauging Categorical Symmetries in 3d Topological Orders and Bulk Reconstruction," arXiv:2111.13697 [hep-th].
- [110] K. Roumpedakis, S. Seifnashri, and S.-H. Shao, "Higher Gauging and Non-invertible Condensation Defects," arXiv:2204.02407 [hep-th].
- [111] L. Bhardwaj, L. Bottini, S. Schafer-Nameki, and A. Tiwari, "Non-Invertible Higher-Categorical Symmetries," arXiv:2204.06564 [hep-th].
- [112] Y. Hayashi and Y. Tanizaki, "Non-invertible self-duality defects of Cardy-Rabinovici model and mixed gravitational anomaly," *JHEP* 08 (2022) 036, arXiv:2204.07440 [hep-th].
- [113] Y. Choi, C. Cordova, P.-S. Hsin, H. T. Lam, and S.-H. Shao, "Non-invertible Condensation, Duality, and Triality Defects in 3+1 Dimensions," arXiv:2204.09025 [hep-th].
- [114] J. Kaidi, G. Zafrir, and Y. Zheng, "Non-invertible symmetries of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM and twisted compactification," *JHEP* **08** (2022) 053, arXiv:2205.01104 [hep-th].
- [115] C. Cordova and K. Ohmori, "Non-Invertible Chiral Symmetry and Exponential Hierarchies," arXiv:2205.06243 [hep-th].

- [116] Y. Choi, H. T. Lam, and S.-H. Shao, "Noninvertible Global Symmetries in the Standard Model," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **129** no. 16, (2022) 161601, arXiv:2205.05086 [hep-th].
- [117] V. Bashmakov, M. Del Zotto, and A. Hasan, "On the 6d Origin of Non-invertible Symmetries in 4d," arXiv:2206.07073 [hep-th].
- [118] Y. Choi, H. T. Lam, and S.-H. Shao, "Noninvertible Time-Reversal Symmetry," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 130 no. 13, (2023) 131602, arXiv:2208.04331 [hep-th].
- [119] L. Bhardwaj, S. Schafer-Nameki, and J. Wu, "Universal Non-Invertible Symmetries," arXiv:2208.05973 [hep-th].
- [120] T. Bartsch, M. Bullimore, A. E. V. Ferrari, and J. Pearson, "Non-invertible Symmetries and Higher Representation Theory I," arXiv:2208.05993 [hep-th].
- [121] F. Apruzzi, I. Bah, F. Bonetti, and S. Schafer-Nameki, "Non-Invertible Symmetries from Holography and Branes," arXiv:2208.07373 [hep-th].
- [122] J. J. Heckman, M. Hübner, E. Torres, and H. Y. Zhang, "The Branes Behind Generalized Symmetry Operators," *Fortsch. Phys.* 71 no. 1, (2023) 2200180, arXiv:2209.03343 [hep-th].
- [123] J. Kaidi, K. Ohmori, and Y. Zheng, "Symmetry TFTs for Non-Invertible Defects," arXiv:2209.11062 [hep-th].
- [124] P. Niro, K. Roumpedakis, and O. Sela, "Exploring Non-Invertible Symmetries in Free Theories," arXiv:2209.11166 [hep-th].
- [125] A. Antinucci, F. Benini, C. Copetti, G. Galati, and G. Rizi, "The holography of non-invertible self-duality symmetries," arXiv:2210.09146 [hep-th].
- [126] S. Chen and Y. Tanizaki, "Solitonic symmetry beyond homotopy: invertibility from bordism and non-invertibility from TQFT," arXiv:2210.13780 [hep-th].
- [127] V. Bashmakov, M. Del Zotto, A. Hasan, and J. Kaidi, "Non-invertible Symmetries of Class S Theories," arXiv:2211.05138 [hep-th].
- [128] C. Cordova, S. Hong, S. Koren, and K. Ohmori, "Neutrino Masses from Generalized Symmetry Breaking," arXiv:2211.07639 [hep-ph].
- [129] T. D. Décoppet and M. Yu, "Gauging Noninvertible Defects: A 2-Categorical Perspective," arXiv:2211.08436 [math.CT].
- [130] Y. Choi, H. T. Lam, and S.-H. Shao, "Non-invertible Gauss Law and Axions," arXiv:2212.04499 [hep-th].
- [131] L. Bhardwaj, S. Schafer-Nameki, and A. Tiwari, "Unifying Constructions of Non-Invertible Symmetries," arXiv:2212.06159 [hep-th].

- [132] L. Bhardwaj, L. E. Bottini, S. Schafer-Nameki, and A. Tiwari, "Non-Invertible Symmetry Webs," arXiv:2212.06842 [hep-th].
- [133] T. Bartsch, M. Bullimore, A. E. V. Ferrari, and J. Pearson, "Non-invertible Symmetries and Higher Representation Theory II," arXiv:2212.07393 [hep-th].
- [134] P.-S. Hsin, "Non-Invertible Defects in Nonlinear Sigma Models and Coupling to Topological Orders," arXiv:2212.08608 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [135] J. J. Heckman, M. Hubner, E. Torres, X. Yu, and H. Y. Zhang, "Top Down Approach to Topological Duality Defects," arXiv:2212.09743 [hep-th].
- [136] A. Apte, C. Cordova, and H. T. Lam, "Obstructions to Gapped Phases from Non-Invertible Symmetries," arXiv:2212.14605 [hep-th].
- [137] C. Delcamp and A. Tiwari, "Higher categorical symmetries and gauging in two-dimensional spin systems," arXiv:2301.01259 [hep-th].
- [138] M. Koide, Y. Nagoya, and S. Yamaguchi, "Non-invertible symmetries and boundaries in four dimensions," arXiv:2304.01550 [hep-th].
- [139] T. Bartsch, M. Bullimore, and A. Grigoletto, "Higher representations for extended operators," arXiv:2304.03789 [hep-th].
- [140] P. Putrov and J. Wang, "Categorical Symmetry of the Standard Model from Gravitational Anomaly," arXiv:2302.14862 [hep-th].
- [141] S. Vijay, J. Haah, and L. Fu, "Fracton Topological Order, Generalized Lattice Gauge Theory and Duality," *Phys. Rev. B* 94 no. 23, (2016) 235157, arXiv:1603.04442 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [142] N. Seiberg and S.-H. Shao, "Exotic U(1) Symmetries, Duality, and Fractons in 3+1-Dimensional Quantum Field Theory," *SciPost Phys.* 9 no. 4, (2020) 046, arXiv:2004.00015 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [143] N. Seiberg and S.-H. Shao, "Exotic \mathbb{Z}_N symmetries, duality, and fractons in 3+1-dimensional quantum field theory," *SciPost Phys.* **10** no. 1, (2021) 003, arXiv:2004.06115 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [144] P. Gorantla, H. T. Lam, N. Seiberg, and S.-H. Shao, "More Exotic Field Theories in 3+1 Dimensions," *SciPost Phys.* 9 (2020) 073, arXiv: 2007.04904 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [145] M. Qi, L. Radzihovsky, and M. Hermele, "Fracton phases via exotic higher-form symmetry-breaking," *Annals Phys.* 424 (2021) 168360, arXiv:2010.02254 [cond-mat.str-el].

- [146] P. Gorantla, H. T. Lam, N. Seiberg, and S.-H. Shao, "fcc lattice, checkerboards, fractons, and quantum field theory," *Phys. Rev. B* 103 no. 20, (2021) 205116, arXiv:2010.16414 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [147] T. Rudelius, N. Seiberg, and S.-H. Shao, "Fractons with Twisted Boundary Conditions and Their Symmetries," *Phys. Rev. B* 103 no. 19, (2021) 195113, arXiv:2012.11592 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [148] P.-S. Hsin and K. Slagle, "Comments on foliated gauge theories and dualities in 3+1d," *SciPost Phys.* 11 no. 2, (2021) 032, arXiv:2105.09363 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [149] B. C. Rayhaun and D. J. Williamson, "Higher-Form Subsystem Symmetry Breaking: Subdimensional Criticality and Fracton Phase Transitions," arXiv:2112.12735 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [150] P. Gorantla, H. T. Lam, N. Seiberg, and S.-H. Shao, "Gapped Lineon and Fracton Models on Graphs," arXiv:2210.03727 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [151] K. Ohmori and S. Shimamura, "Foliated-Exotic Duality in Fractonic BF Theories," arXiv:2210.11001 [hep-th].
- [152] X. Shen, Z. Wu, L. Li, Z. Qin, and H. Yao, "Fracton topological order at finite temperature," *Phys. Rev. Res.* 4 (Jul, 2022) L032008. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevResearch.4.L032008.
- [153] N. Seiberg and S.-H. Shao, "Majorana chain and Ising model (non-invertible) translations, anomalies, and emanant symmetries," arXiv:2307.02534 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [154] L. Li, M. Oshikawa, and Y. Zheng, "Non-Invertible Duality Transformation Between SPT and SSB Phases," arXiv:2301.07899 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [155] Y.-H. Lin and S.-H. Shao, "Anomalies and Bounds on Charged Operators," *Phys. Rev. D* 100 no. 2, (2019) 025013, arXiv:1904.04833 [hep-th].
- [156] Y. Yao and M. Oshikawa, "Twisted boundary condition and lieb-schultz-mattis ingappability for discrete symmetries," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **126** (May, 2021) 217201. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.126.217201.
- [157] M. Hauru, G. Evenbly, W. W. Ho, D. Gaiotto, and G. Vidal, "Topological conformal defects with tensor networks," *Phys. Rev. B* 94 no. 11, (2016) 115125, arXiv:1512.03846 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [158] Y. You, T. Devakul, F. J. Burnell, and S. L. Sondhi, "Subsystem symmetry protected topological order," *Phys. Rev. B* 98 no. 3, (July, 2018) 035112, arXiv:1803.02369 [cond-mat.str-el].

- [159] T. Devakul, D. J. Williamson, and Y. You, "Classification of subsystem symmetry-protected topological phases," *Phys. Rev. B* 98 no. 23, (2018) 235121, arXiv:1808.05300 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [160] N. Tantivasadakarn, "Jordan-Wigner Dualities for Translation-Invariant Hamiltonians in Any Dimension: Emergent Fermions in Fracton Topological Order," *Phys. Rev. Res.* 2 no. 2, (2020) 023353, arXiv:2002.11345 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [161] F. J. Burnell, T. Devakul, P. Gorantla, H. T. Lam, and S.-H. Shao, "Anomaly Inflow for Subsystem Symmetries," arXiv:2110.09529 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [162] W. Shirley, K. Slagle, Z. Wang, and X. Chen, "Fracton Models on General Three-Dimensional Manifolds," *Phys. Rev. X* 8 no. 3, (2018) 031051, arXiv:1712.05892 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [163] W. Shirley, K. Slagle, and X. Chen, "Fractional excitations in foliated fracton phases," Annals Phys. 410 (2019) 167922, arXiv:1806.08625 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [164] N. Tantivasadakarn, R. Thorngren, A. Vishwanath, and R. Verresen, "Long-range entanglement from measuring symmetry-protected topological phases," arXiv:2112.01519 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [165] L. Lootens, C. Delcamp, G. Ortiz, and F. Verstraete, "Dualities in one-dimensional quantum lattice models: symmetric Hamiltonians and matrix product operator intertwiners," arXiv:2112.09091 [quant-ph].
- [166] J. C. Bridgeman and D. J. Williamson, "Anomalies and entanglement renormalization," *Phys. Rev. B* 96 no. 12, (2017) 125104, arXiv:1703.07782 [quant-ph].
- [167] C.-T. Hsieh, Y. Nakayama, and Y. Tachikawa, "Fermionic minimal models," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **126** no. 19, (2021) 195701, arXiv: 2002.12283 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [168] L. Lootens, C. Delcamp, and F. Verstraete, "Dualities in one-dimensional quantum lattice models: topological sectors," arXiv:2211.03777 [quant-ph].
- [169] A. Karch, D. Tong, and C. Turner, "A Web of 2d Dualities: Z₂ Gauge Fields and Arf Invariants," *SciPost Phys.* 7 (2019) 007, arXiv:1902.05550 [hep-th].
- [170] Y. Fukusumi, Y. Tachikawa, and Y. Zheng, "Fermionization and boundary states in 1+1 dimensions," *SciPost Phys.* **11** (2021) 082, arXiv:2103.00746 [hep-th].
- [171] J. E. Moore and D.-H. Lee, "Geometric effects on t-breaking in p + ip and d + id superconducting arrays," *Phys. Rev. B* 69 (Mar, 2004) 104511. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevB.69.104511.
- [172] C. Xu and J. E. Moore, "Strong-weak coupling self-duality in the two-dimensional quantum phase transition of *p* + *ip* superconducting arrays," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **93** (Jul, 2004) 047003. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.93.047003.

- [173] C. Xu and J. Moore, "Reduction of effective dimensionality in lattice models of superconducting arrays and frustrated magnets," *Nuclear Physics B* 716 no. 3, (2005) 487–508. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0550321305002877.
- [174] R. Orús, A. C. Doherty, and G. Vidal, "First order phase transition in the anisotropic quantum orbital compass model," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **102** (Feb, 2009) 077203. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.102.077203.
- [175] A. Karch and A. Raz, "Reduced Conformal Symmetry," JHEP 04 (2021) 182, arXiv:2009.12308 [hep-th].
- [176] S. Yamaguchi, "Supersymmetric quantum field theory with exotic symmetry in 3+1 dimensions and fermionic fracton phases," *PTEP* 2021 no. 6, (2021) 063B04, arXiv:2102.04768 [hep-th].
- [177] P. Gorantla, H. T. Lam, N. Seiberg, and S.-H. Shao, "A modified Villain formulation of fractons and other exotic theories," *J. Math. Phys.* 62 no. 10, (2021) 102301, arXiv:2103.01257 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [178] M. Honda and T. Nakanishi, "Scalar, fermionic and supersymmetric field theories with subsystem symmetries in d + 1 dimensions," *JHEP* 03 (2023) 188, arXiv:2212.13006 [hep-th].
- [179] L. Li and Y. Yao, "Duality viewpoint of criticality," *Phys. Rev. B* 106 no. 22, (2022) 224420, arXiv:2209.13450 [quant-ph].
- [180] H. Yang, L. Li, K. Okunishi, and H. Katsura, "Duality, criticality, anomaly, and topology in quantum spin-1 chains," *Phys. Rev. B* 107 (Mar, 2023) 125158. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevB.107.125158.
- [181] L. Li, M. Oshikawa, and Y. Zheng, "Non-Invertible Kennedy-Tasaki Transformation and Applications to Gapless-SPT," *To appear*.
- [182] T. Kennedy and H. Tasaki, "Hidden symmetry breaking and the Haldane phase in S=1 quantum spin chains," *Communications in Mathematical Physics* 147 no. 3, (July, 1992) 431–484.
- [183] T. Kennedy and H. Tasaki, "Hidden Z₂ × Z₂ symmetry breaking in haldane-gap antiferromagnets," *Phys. Rev. B* 45 (Jan, 1992) 304–307. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevB.45.304.
- [184] M. Oshikawa, "Hidden $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ symmetry in quantum spin chains with arbitrary integer spin," *Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter* **4** no. 36, (1992) 7469.
- [185] T. Scaffidi, D. E. Parker, and R. Vasseur, "Gapless symmetry-protected topological order," *Physical Review X* 7 no. 4, (2017) 041048, arXiv:1705.01557 [cond-mat.str-el].

- [186] R. Verresen, R. Thorngren, N. G. Jones, and F. Pollmann, "Gapless Topological Phases and Symmetry-Enriched Quantum Criticality," *Phys. Rev. X* 11 no. 4, (2021) 041059, arXiv:1905.06969 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [187] R. Thorngren, A. Vishwanath, and R. Verresen, "Intrinsically Gapless Topological Phases," arXiv:2008.06638 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [188] L. Li, M. Oshikawa, and Y. Zheng, "Symmetry Protected Topological Criticality: Decorated Defect Construction, Signatures and Stability," arXiv:2204.03131 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [189] W. Ji, S.-H. Shao, and X.-G. Wen, "Topological Transition on the Conformal Manifold," *Phys. Rev. Res.* 2 no. 3, (2020) 033317, arXiv:1909.01425 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [190] Y. Tachikawa, "Topological phases and relativistic quantum field theories," *CERN Winter* School on Supergravity, Strings and Gauge Theory 2018.
- [191] T. Devakul, D. J. Williamson, and Y. You, "Classification of subsystem symmetry-protected topological phases," *Phys. Rev. B* 98 (Dec, 2018) 235121. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevB.98.235121.
- [192] T. Devakul, W. Shirley, and J. Wang, "Strong planar subsystem symmetry-protected topological phases and their dual fracton orders," *Phys. Rev. Res.* 2 no. 1, (2020) 012059, arXiv:1910.01630 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [193] S. Ashkenazi and E. Zohar, "Duality as a feasible physical transformation for quantum simulation," *Phys. Rev. A* 105 no. 2, (2022) 022431, arXiv:2111.04765 [quant-ph].
- [194] J. Haah, "Local stabilizer codes in three dimensions without string logical operators," *Phys. Rev. A* 83 no. 4, (2011) 042330, arXiv:1101.1962 [quant-ph].
- [195] S. Bravyi and J. Haah, "Quantum self-correction in the 3d cubic code model," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **111** (Nov, 2013) 200501. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.111.200501.
- [196] D. T. Stephen, H. P. Nautrup, J. Bermejo-Vega, J. Eisert, and R. Raussendorf, "Subsystem symmetries, quantum cellular automata, and computational phases of quantum matter," *Quantum* 3 (2019) 142.
- [197] B. J. Brown and D. J. Williamson, "Parallelized quantum error correction with fracton topological codes," *Phys. Rev. Res.* 2 no. 1, (2020) 013303, arXiv:1901.08061 [quant-ph].
- [198] T. Devakul and D. J. Williamson, "Fractalizing quantum codes," *Quantum* **5** (2021) 438, arXiv:2009.01252 [quant-ph].

[199] G. M. Nixon and B. J. Brown, "Correcting spanning errors with a fractal code," *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory* **67** no. 7, (2021) 4504–4516.